

Copyright Undertaking

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact lbsys@polyu.edu.hk providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

HIGHLY SENSITIVE BIOSENSOR BASED ON ORGANIC ELECTROCHEMICAL TRANSISTORS

MAK CHUN HIN

M.Phil

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

2015

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Department of Applied Physics

Highly Sensitive Biosensor Based on Organic

Electrochemical Transistors

Mak Chun Hin

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of Master of Philosophy

June 2015

Certificate of Originality

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma, except where due acknowledgement has been made in the text.

MAK CHUN HIN



Abstract

Different biological and chemical sensing methods based on solution gated field-effect transistor have been investigated in recent decades due to their many advantages, including miniaturization without the loss of signal to noise ratio, signal amplification on applied gate voltage and operation in solution environment. However, conventional inorganic field-effect transistors (FET) are usually not bio-compatible. Furthermore, the high temperature processing in device fabrication and the rigid architecture of the devices make it difficult to integrate the devices with biological systems and hinder the applications in biological or chemical sensing. Recently, organic electrochemical transistors (OECTs), a special kind of organic thin film transistor (OTFTs), can operate in various solution or electrolytes at low working voltages with stable performance. The devices can be prepared by solution process such as spin-coating on various substrates at low temperatures. Therefore, OECTs have become promising transducers/sensors for biological and chemical sensing. In this thesis, OECTs with poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene)–poly(styrene sulfonic acid) (PEDOT:PSS) channels have been introduced to detect three analytes, including epinephrine, cholesterol and Adenosine triphosphate (ATP), based on different mechanisms and showed high performance in comparison with conventional electrochemical approaches.

Epinephrine, as an important neurotransmitter, was successfully detected by OECTs with platinum (Pt) gate electrodes. Epinephrine molecules can undergo direct



electro-oxidation on the Pt gate electrode and lead to obvious changes of the channel current of the OECTs. The device performance was optimized by modifying Nafion and carbon-based nanomaterials (graphene, graphene oxide and single-wall carbon nanotubes) on the gate electrodes. It was found that Nafion and single–walled carbon nanotube co-modified gate electrodes can lead to the lowest detection limit of 0.1nM for epinephrine, which covers the normal range in human body (~0.2nM). Compared to the previously reported sensors based on ion-sensitive field effect transistor (ISFET) and cotton-based OECTs, the detection limit of our OECTs is much lower than the reported results due to the different sensing principle and device architecture.

A high cholesterol level in human blood plasma will lead to a high risk in having heart disease and high blood pressure. Therefore, highly sensitive cholesterol biosensors based on different methods have been extensively investigated. In this thesis, OECT-based cholesterol sensors were realized by functionalizing Pt gate electrodes with cholesterol oxidase (ChOx), nanomaterials and the biocompatible polymer Nafion. The sensing mechanism of the cholesterol sensor is as follows. Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) molecules are produced by the reaction of cholesterol molecules catalyzed by ChOx near the functionalized Pt gate electrode and undergo electro-oxidation on the gate surface, which can influence the gate surface potential and thus the effective gate voltage applied on the device. Since the amount of H_2O_2 produced is directly proportion to the concentration of cholesterol, the indirect cholesterol sensing based on the detection of H_2O_2 is thus realized. The cholesterol



sensor can show a detection limit down to 10nM, depending on the surface modification of gate electrodes.

Besides the above sensing principles based on the direct electro-oxidation of biomolecules or indirect sensing by producing H_2O_2 of decomposed biomolecules, OECT can be operated by testing reduced signal. In ATP sensing, dual enzyme (glucose oxidase (GOx) and hexokinase (HEX)) co-modified gate electrodes were employed. GOx can decompose glucose and produce H_2O_2 while HEX can combine ATP and glucose to generate electrochemically inactive molecules and reduce the glucose concentration and thus the concentration of H_2O_2 that can be detected by the device. So the concentration of ATP can be decided according to the decrease of the signal generated by H_2O_2 at a controlled condition. The ATP sensor can show a detection limit down to 10μ M, depending on the surface modification of the gate electrodes.

In summary, OECTs are promising transducers for biological and chemical sensing because of high sensitivities and convenient fabrication process. The devices can be prepared on flexible substrate by solution process at low temperature with low cost, making it possible to integrate the devices with various systems, such as wearable electronics and healthcare products. Furthermore, the device performance should be optimized by improving the stability and uniformity of the devices before being considered for commercial applications, which will be the future work of this field.



List of Publications

- <u>Chun Hin Mak</u>, Caizhi Liao, Ying Fu, Meng Zhang, Chun Yin Tang, Yuen Hong Tsang, Helen L. W. Chan and Feng Yan, "Highly-sensitive epinephrine sensors based on organic electrochemical transistors with carbon nanomaterials modified gate electrodes." *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, 2015
- Meng Zhang, Caizhi Liao, <u>Chun Hin Mak</u>, Peng You, Chee Leung Mak, Feng Yan, "Highly sensitive glucose sensors based on enzyme-modified whole-graphene solution-gated transistors." Scientific reports, 5, p. 8311, 2015
- Caizhi Liao, <u>Chun Hin Mak</u>, Meng Zhang, Helen L. W. Chan, Feng Yan, "Flexible Organic Electrochemical Transistors for Highly Selective Enzyme Biosensors and Used for Saliva Testing." Advanced Materials, 27, p. 676–681, 2015



Acknowledgments

After two year of M-Phil study, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my chief supervisor Prof. Helen L.W. Chan and my co-supervisor Dr. Feng Yan for their patience and help so I can finish my M-Phil study. Even though at the beginning of the study there were some people and problems appeared and hindered me, which have made my study process very difficult and harsh, but finally they gave their friendly support and cheered me up many times. These actions made me feel warm and please and finish the study.

Moreover, I needed to give my earnest thanks to Mr. Peng You, Dr. Ying Fu and Dr. Meng Zhang. Their support in paper writing and discussions were very valuable to me.

Furthermore, Dr. Zhike Liu, Dr. Chao Xie, Mr. Yuzhe Liu and Dr. Meng Zhang help me to realise my first idea on solution-gated microchannel graphene transistor arrays. Especially for Mr. Yuzhe Liu, he taught me the technique of photolithography very precisely which was very helpful. Dr. Meng Zhang also taught me the main procedures of making graphene transistor arrays.

Dr. Qidong Tai, Dr. Bolei Chen, Mr. Felix Qian and Mr. HuanYu Jin always encouraged me in both my research work and lives. They always cheer me up when I felt lost. Their helps and speeches always appeared when I felt upset. Mr. Jin, I know that feel, Bro!



Besides some groupmates in Dr. Yan's group, I need to thank Mr. Jimmy Tang, Micky Wong, Henry Chong, Morgan Teng Hao Li, Captain Fang, HXW, TFR, ZYJ, LH, Be Yau, Simon Wong, Simon Luk and Kate Lai, Matthew Wong, Dr. Hardy Lui and Dr. C.W. Ong, for all their supportive help, advices and friendly, genuine encouragements. Even though we were not from the same group, sometimes they treated me like we were in the same group.

With this chance I also want to thank my old friend, Miss. Ka Yiu Wong in the Hong Kong Baptist University.

Finally I must thank my parents, brother, and the retired associated professors Dr. F.T Cheng and Dr. Y.W. Wong in the department of applied physics of HKPU. When I was in primary school I refused to do homework and refuse to learn just because I feel tedious in learning. My family tried very hard to make me study. After I found that what I am interested are mathematics, physics and engineering, the two associate professors encouraged me to study more and become a research student. If any one of them has not appeared in my life, I may not become a research student and I may even cannot insist in studying for this two years.

Once again, To Prof Chan and Dr. Yan, thank you for all your help and patience. You are my two beacons in the darkness ocean.



Table of Contents

Abstract I List of Publications IV Acknowledgements V Table of Contents VII List of Figures X List of Tables XVII

Chapter 1 Introduction		
1.1 Background	1	
1.2 Working mechanism of PEDOT:PSS based OECT	2	
1.3 Research objective	5	

Chapter 2 Review of Organic Electrochemical Transistor Sensors	6
2.1 OECT based biological/chemical sensors	6
2.1.1 pH and ion sensors	6
2.1.2 Antibody-antigen sensors	9
2.1.3 DNA sensors	11
2.1.4 Cell-based sensors	13
2.1.5 Neurotransmitter sensors	15
2.1.5.1 Dopamine sensors	15
2.1.5.2 Glutamate and acetylcholine sensor	17
2.1.5.3 Epinephrine sensor	18
2.1.6 Glucose sensors	20
2.1.7 Other biomolecules sensing	22
2.2 Summary	23



Chapter 3 Epinephrine Sensing of Organic Electrochemical Transistors24
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Fabrication, preparation and measurement of OECT epinephrine sensors
3.2.1 Fabrication of OECTs
3.2.2 Preparation of OECTs epinephrine sensor
3.2.3 Measurement of OECTs
3.3 Working principle of OECT-based epinephrine sensors
3.4 Performance and discussion on OECTs epinephrine sensors
3.4.1 Device performance with clean Pt gate
3.4.1.1 Epinephrine sensing with clean Pt gate
3.4.2 Nafion/nano-materials mixture modification and electrocatalytic effect35
3.4.2.1 Epinephrine sensing with Nafion modified Pt gate
3.4.2.2 Epinephrine sensing with Nafion/nano-materials modified Pt gate41
3.4.3 Comparison of other transistor based epinephrine biosensors45
3.5 Summary
Chapter 4 Cholesterol Sensing of Organic Electrochemical Transistors47
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Fabrication, preparation and measurement of OECT cholesterol sensors49
4.2.1 Preparation of OECTs cholesterol sensor
4.3 Working principle of OECT-based cholesterol sensors
4.4 Performance and discussion on OECT cholesterol sensors
4.4.1 Nafion with enzyme matrix modification on Pt gate53
4.4.2 Device performance with Nafion mixture modified Pt gate53
4.4.3 Comparison of other cholesterol biosensors
4.5 Summary61



64
65
65
70
75
76

Chapter 6 Conclusion and Future Work	77
6.1 Conclusion	77
6.2 Future outlook	

eference



List of Figures

Figure	<u>Captions</u>	Page
Fig 1.1	The behavior of PEDOT:PSS OECT	3
	a) OECT architecture.	
	b) OECT with no gate voltage applied. The organic semiconductor PEDOT:PSS have no doping and current is high.	
	c) The organic semiconductor PEDOT:PSS have doping and current is low in OECT when gate voltage (Vg) applied	
	[Adopted from ref. 7]	
Fig 2.1	(a) Transfer characteristics of the PEDOT:PSS OECT measured in 0.1M KCl solutions with Au, Pt, Ag/AgCl gate electrodes	9
	(b,c) Transfer characteristics of OECTs in different KCl concentrations with Pt and Au gate electrodes, respectively. Insets show transfer characteristics of the OECTs merge a universal curve for different KCl concentration	
	[Adopted from ref. 9]	
Fig 2.2	PEDOT:PSS OECT antigen sensing.	11
	[Adopted from ref. 20]	
Fig 2.3	a) Schematic diagram of an OECT DNA sensor integrated in a flexible microfluidic system.	12



	b) Photographs of a bent device.	
	c) Transfer characteristics of an OECT measured at immobilization state of DNA.	
	d) Voltage shift of different target DNA in PBS solution.	
	[Adopted from ref. 23]	
Fig 2.4	a,b) Optical images of cancer cells cultured on PEDOT:PSS films before and after detachment.	14
	c) Transfer characteristics of an OECT with cancer cells before and after trypsin solution treatment. Inset: Output characteristics of the OECT.	
	d) Schematic diagram of the electrostatic interaction between an attached cell and PEDOT:PSS film.	
	[Adopted from ref. 24]	
Fig 2.5	(A) ID vs. time curve before and after an addition of 50 nM dopamine in PBS solution.	16
	(B) Normalized current responses (NCR) of the OECT with different gate electrodes of 50 nM dopamine.	
	[Adopted from ref. 26]	
Fig 2.6	Schematic representation of the glutamate and acetylcholine with PEDOT:PSS/Pt NPs OECT sensor.	17
	[Adopted from ref. 28]	



Fig 2.7	Enzymatic chemical reaction of a) glutamate and b) acetylcholine on the PEDOT:PSS electrode	18
	[Adopted from ref. 28]	
Fig. 2.8	(a) Field emission SEM image of the PEDOT:PSS cotton wire.	19
	(b) the cotton-OECT with Ag and Pt electrode.	
	(c) Concept diagram of the cotton-OECT device with a Pt gate and an epinephrine (adrenaline) molecule in its sensing process.	
	(d) Epinephrine (adrenaline) oxidation reaction	
	[Adopted from ref. 29]	
Fig. 2.9	(Left) Potential distribution across the gate to channel when the PEDOT:PSS OECT positive gate bias. Solid line: base solution. Dash line: In the presence of glucose. Dot line: The gate potential which give the same potential in electrolyte in dash line	21
	(Right) The shift of the transfer curves in different concentration and merge an universal curve.	
	[Adopted from ref. 8]	
Fig 2.10	a) Schematic diagram of an OECT with a UOx-GO/PANI/Nafi on-graphene/Pt gate.	23
	b) Potential drops between the gate and channel of the OECT before (solid line) and after (dash line) the addition of UA in the PBS.	
	[Adopted from ref. 34]	



Fig. 3.1	(a) The schematic diagram of an OECT-based epinephrine sensor with a Nafion and nanomaterial-modified gate electrode.	28
	(b) The oxidation of epinephrine at the gate electrode modified by Nafion and carbon-based nanomaterials.	
Fig 3.2	(a) Output curves (I_{DS} - V_{DS} at different V_G) of the OECT characterized in PBS solution.	32
	(b) Transfer curves ($I_{DS} - V_G$) of an OECT with a Pt gate electrode characterized in PBS solution before and after the addition of epinephrine with the concentration of 10μ M.	
Fig 3.3	(a) The normalized current response of an OECT with a Pt gate to the increasing epinephrine concentration in PBS solution measured at $V_{DS}=0.1$ V and $V_G=0.6$ V. $I_0=291.67\mu$ A. Inset: the enlarged current response at the detection limit of the device (30nM).	34
	(b) The offset voltage change as a function of the logarithmic value of epinephrine concentration ([EPI]). Inset: Transfer curve (I_{DS} versus V_G) of the OECT measured in PBS solution with V_{DS} =0.1V.	
Fig 3.4	AFM images of Pt gate electrodes modified with different films, including (a) 1.2µm thick Nafion; (b) 2.3µm thick Nafion; (c) Nafion+SWNT composite; (d) Nafion+Gr composite; (e) Nafion+GO composite	37



Fig 3.5	Cyclic voltammograms of Pt electrodes modified with different films measured in 1mM epinephrine PBS solution. Voltage scan rate: 50mV/s.	38
Fig 3.6	The normalized current responses of OECTs with	39-40
	(a) 1.2mm thick (<i>I</i> ₀ =317.79µA)	
	(b) 2.3 mm thick Nafion films modified on Pt gates to the increasing epinephrine concentration in PBS solution (I_0 =227.20 μ A). V _{DS} =0.1V, V _G =0.6V,. Insets: The enlarged current responses at the detection limits (10nM).	
	(c) The effective gate voltage change (DV_G^{eff}) of the two OECTs as a function of the logarithmic value of epinephrine concentration (Log[EPI]).	
Fig 3.7	The normalized current responses of OECTs with (a) Nafion+GO (I_0 =313.13µA); (b) Nafion+Gr (I_0 =367.53µA) and (c) Nafion+SWNT films modified on Pt gates to the increasing epinephrine concentration in PBS solution (I_0 =119.02µA). V _{DS} =0.1V, V _G =0.6V. Insets: the enlarged current responses at the detection limits ((a) 10nM, (b) 1nM; (c) 0.1nM). (d) The effective gate voltage change (DV_G^{eff}) of the OECTs with different gate electrodes as a function of the logarithmic value of epinephrine concentration (Log[EPI]).	41
Fig 3.8	Normalized current responses of the OECT with a Nafion/SWCN modified Pt gate to additions of (a) uric acid (UA) and (b) ascorbic acid (AA) measured at VDS=0.1V and VG=0.6V	43



Fig 4.1	The device structure of OECT cholesterol sensor and the reaction cycle	50
Fig 4.2	(a)(c)(e) The normalized current response of the OECTs with (a) Nafion /ChOx, (c) Nafion/GO/ChOx, (e) Nafion/Graphene/ChOx modified Pt gate to the increasing cholesterol concentration in PBS solution measured at V_{DS} =0.1V and V_G =0.6V. Inset: the enlarged current response at the detection limit of the device (a) 100nM, (c) 10nM, (e) 10nM.	54-57
	(b)(d)(f) The offset voltage change as a function of the logarithmic value of cholesterol concentration with (b) Nafion /ChOx, (d) Nafion/GO/ChOx, (f) Nafion/Graphene/ChOx modified Pt gate. Inset: Transfer curve (I _{DS} versus V _G) of the OECT measured in PBS solution with V_{DS} =0.1V	
Fig 5.1	The ATP sensor and the gate modification	66
Fig 5.2	Potential distribution of the OECT for ATP sensing	67
Fig. 5.3	 (a) The normalized current response of an OECT with 5µL Nafion/HEX/GOx/Pt gate to the increasing ATP concentration in PBS solution measured at V_{DS}=0.1V and V_G=0.6V. (b) The offset voltage change as a function of the 	72
	logarithmic value of ATP concentration ([ATP])	
Fig. 5.4	(a) The normalized current response of an OECT with $10\mu L$ Nafion/HEX/GOx/Pt gate to the	73-74



increasing ATP concentration in PBS solution measured at V_{DS} =0.1V and V_G =0.6V.

(b) The offset voltage change as a function of the logarithmic value of ATP concentration ([ATP])



List of Tables

Figure	<u>Captions</u>	Page
Table 3.1	The detection limit and the slope of effective gate voltage per decade of the epinephrine concentration (α) of OECT-based epinephrine biosensors.	44
Table 3.2	Comparison of previously reported epinephrine biosensors by different electrochemical methods	44
Table 4.1	Detection limit and the change of effective gate voltage (a) of the OECT-based sensors to cholesterol solution	58
Table 4.2	Comparison of different electrochemical based cholesterol biosensors	60



Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Due to low temperature process, easy to modify the electrical, optical and mechanical properties, easy deposition and low-cost[1], organic electronics have been intensively studied for different applications such as organic light emitted diode (OLED), Organic solar cells (OSCs)[2] and organic thin film transistors (OTFTs)[3], [4]. Organic field effect transistors (OFETs) and organic electrochemical transistor (OECTs) were the main types of OTFTs. In an OECT, an electrolyte analogously replaces the insulator in an OFET.[3] The device can detect the analyte concentration in the electrolyte with high sensitivity based on various sensing principles. Meanwhile, the aqueous environment allows low working voltage of the device because of the high gate capacitance that is mainly the double-layer capacitance at the electrolyte/semiconductor interface. Therefore, OECT is an ideal platform for biological sensing.

The first OECT was a transistor with polypyrole as organic channel reported in 1984.[5] Then different channel materials such as polyaniline and PEDOT:PSS were applied[3, 6] and showed stable performance in chemical and biological sensing (e.g. glucose or pH).[3] Various tactics of sensing different biomolecules, DNA or cells were proposed for different purposes. In addition, device performance is greatly influenced by



fabrication conditions and surface modification, which should be optimized for practical applications.

1.2 Working mechanism of PEDOT:PSS -based OECTs

The working mechanism of PEDOT:PSS -based OECT was investigated by Bernards et al. [7, 8] The channel current of the OECT is changed by the ion doping and de-doping process and shows on and off states at different gate voltages. As shown in Fig. 1.1, when the PEDOT:PSS OECT was immersed in electrolyte with ion, its hole density will be decreased by injected positive ions into PEDOT:PSS if a positive gate voltage is applied. This process is named as de-doping process and the electrochemical reaction to describe the process is shown below[9]:

$$n(PEDOT^+:PSS^-) + M^{n+} + ne^- \leftrightarrow nPEDOT^0 + M^{n+}:nPSS^-$$

where M^{n+} is a cation from electrolyte, n the number of charge of the cation, and e⁻ is the electron from the source electrode. Hence, when the ion moves into PEDOT:PSS layer the PEDOT will change from its oxidation state to neutral state and vice versa.





Fig 1.1 The behavior of PEDOT:PSS OECT. a) OECT architecture. b) OECT with no gate voltage applied. The organic semiconductor PEDOT:PSS have no doping and current is high. c) The organic semiconductor PEDOT:PSS have doping and current is low in OECT when gate voltage (Vg) applied. [7]



The above mechanism can be viewed as one ionic circuit combined with one electronic circuit. The ionic circuit was formed by the gate electrode and drain-source electrode by considering the channel is an electrode. The electronic circuit was formed between the drain and source electrodes with the organic semiconductor channel.

The channel current is given by these equations [3]:

$$I_{DS} = \frac{q\mu p_0 t W}{L V_p} (V_p - V_G^{eff} + \frac{V_{DS}}{2}) V_{DS}, \quad (\text{when } |V_{DS}| << |V_p - V_G^{eff}|)$$

$$V_p = q p_0 t / c_i,$$

$$V_G^{eff} = V_G + V_{offset},$$
(1.1)

where q is the electronic charge, μ the hole mobility, and p_o is the initial hole density in the organic semiconductor when gate voltage is zero. W and L are the channel width and length, respectively. t is the thickness of the active layer. C_i is the effective gate capacitance of the transistor, V_p the pinch-off voltage, V_g^{eff} the effective gate voltage, and V_{offset} is the offset voltage related to the potential change at the two interfaces: gate/electrolyte and electrolyte/channel.

According to the equation 1.1, the channel current (I_{DS}) changes with the effective gate voltage (V_G^{eff}) changes. When the drain source voltage (V_{DS}) unchanges, then I_{DS} is a bijective function of V_G^{eff} , therefore we can found out the change in effective gate voltage by comparing the I_{DS} in current-time measurement and the transfer characteristic curve to obtain the corresponding effective gate voltage value after adding the analyte.



1.3 Research objective

Previously there were many different modification techniques on the organic semiconductor channels of OECTs to sense various biomolecules. Those tactics were similar to that of an ordinary FET-based sensor. However, recent studies indicated that gate modifications with electrochemically active materials could also give good or even better sensing performance in some biological detections. Hence, we try to develop several types of biosensors based on OECTs by specific gate modifications on the devices, which can lead to electro-oxidation of target analytes on the gate electrodes and thus high channel current responses.

In this thesis, PEDOT:PSS -based OECTs have been prepared and employed for various biosensors. The first sensor is to detect the epinephrine concentration based on the direct-oxidation of epinephrine on gate electrode. The second one is the cholesterol sensors with the enzyme cholesterol oxidase (ChOx) modified on the gate electrodes of OECTs and perform indirect sensing of H_2O_2 generated by the analyte reaction. The third sensor is for the detection of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) with dual enzyme hexokinase (HEX) and glucose oxidase (GOx) co-modified on gate electrode to perform indirect sensing by reducing the signal molecules H_2O_2 .



Chapter 2 Review of Organic Electrochemical Transistor Sensors

In this Chapter, the sensors based on organic electrochemical transistors (OECTs) will be reviewed. Until now, various biological and chemical sensors based on OECTs were successfully realized by different research groups. The representative devices include pH/Ion, bacteria, glucose, neurotransmitters, DNA, cells, and others sensors. Usually the OECT-based sensors gave low detection limits and high sensitivity for the target analytes. As the thesis is mainly focusing on biological and chemical sensing of OECTs, other types of sensors such as gas sensors will not be included in this Chapter.

2.1 OECT based biological/chemical sensors

2.1.1 pH and ion sensors

In 1985, a polyaniline based OECT was reported by Wrighton et al.[10], which could be used for sensing redox reagents, such as $Ru(NH3)_6^{3+/2+}$ and $Fe(CN)_6^{3-/4-}$ and the detection range of pH from 1 to 6 in the solution. Later they made the OECT with poly(3-methylthiophene) channel, the device showed stable performance in aqueous



electrolyte over the range of pH from 1 to 9.[11] The device was successfully used to detect the chemical oxidant of $IrCl_6^{2-}$ at 10^{-15} mol. Moreover, the same group used a device based on platinized poly(3-methylthiophene) to detect H₂ and O₂ in aqueous electrolytes and could detect the pH value in electrolyte from 0 to 12 under aerobic conditions.[12] Then the OECT-based pH sensors were further optimized for broader pH ranges with higher sensitivities by several techniques. Another pH sensor based on polypyrrole was demonstrated by Nishizawa et al., which showed the pH sensing range from 3 - 11.[13]

Dabke et al. demonstrated an ion sensor based on polyaniline OECT to detect metal ions.[14] The channel was doped with 18-crown-6 ethers and the OECT could detect K⁺ ion with the detection limit of about 100 nM. On the other hand, by the fact that polyaniline could act as an effective catalyst to oxidize SO₂, Gaponik et al. used an OECT based on polyaniline to detect the dissolved SO₂ since the oxidization of SO₂ can change the conductivity of the channel.[15] Saxena et al. reported a Cu²⁺-selective sensor based on polycarbazole-based OECT with the detection limit of 2.5 μ M.[16] The sensing response was due to the conductivity change of polycarbazole by the conformational change in the polymer phase in the presence of Cu²⁺ ions diffused from the electrolyte and no ion selective layer was employed.

Berggren et al. demonstrated ion-selective OECTs by using PEDOT:PSS as the active layers. [17]They coated a Ca^{2+} selective polymeric membrane layer on top of PEDOT:PSS to detect Ca^{2+} down to 10^{-4} M. Similar ion selective sensors such as K⁺,



 Ca^{2+} , and Ag^+ with similar concept were developed by Mousavi et al.[18] The detection limits for K+, Ca^{2+} and Ag^+ were 10^{-4} M, 10^{-4} M, and 10^{-5} M, respectively. Moreover, they found that PEDOT:PSS was sensitive and selective to Ag^+ in the solution and similar response was found when the sensor was without an Ag^+ selective membrane. Besides, Bernards et al. reported a PEDOT:PSS-based OECT integrated with a bilayer lipid membrane (BLM) to distinguish monovalent and divalent cations in the solution and used this concept to develop the channel selectivity to monovalent cations.[19]

Yan et al. has investigated the ion-sensitive properties of OECTs[9] based on PEDOT:PSS using three kinds of gate electrodes, Ag/AgCl, Pt, and Au. As shown in Fig. 2.1, the transfer characteristic curves could shift to lower gate voltage when they increased the cation concentration such as H^+ , K^+ , Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and Al³⁺ separately in the electrolyte, also the curves could be shifted horizontally to merge a universal curve. Furthermore, the gate electrode was found to be an important role in the ion-sensitive properties of the OECTs. Nernstian relationships between gate voltage shift and ion concentration were obtained when the devices using Ag/AgCl electrodes as the gate electrode. However, due to the devices having electrical double layer at the gate/electrolyte interface when a Pt or Au gate electrode was applied, higher ion sensitivities in Pt or Au electrode compared to Ag/AgCl electrode were shown. The devices could detect metal ions down to 1 μ M. This work provided a clear explanation of the device physics and the electrochemical mechanisms of OECTs.





Fig 2.1 (a) Transfer characteristics of the PEDOT:PSS OECT measured in 0.1M KCl solutions with Au, Pt, Ag/AgCl gate electrodes. (b,c) Transfer characteristics of OECTs in different KCl concentrations with Pt and Au gate electrodes, respectively. Insets show transfer characteristics of the OECTs merge a universal curve for different KCl concentration.[9]

2.1.2 Antibody-antigen sensors

Kanungo et al. demonstrated a reagentless OECT immunosensor [20] with PEDOT channel using the binding pair of antibody-antigen because they have high affinity to combine each other. They immobilized the goat anti-rabbit IgG with various concentrations on the channel to detect the antigen rabbit IgG concentrations in PBS



solution. Two antibody immobilization approaches, the physical adsorption and polymerization with PEDOT, were employed and they found that polymerization with PEDOT method was the better one. As shown in Fig 2.2, the sensors detected the antigen down to 0.1ng/mL. Reversely, they immobilized the antigen on PEDOT to detect antibody in the solution. The sensing mechanism of the above device was attributed to conformational change of PEDOT channel by the formation of antibody-antigen pair on PEDOT.

Kim et al. demonstrated a highly sensitive PEDOT:PSS OECT immunosensor [21] for the detection of prostate specific antigen (PSA). The PSA monoclonal antibody (PSA mAb) was immobilized on the channel surface and the OECT could detect prostate specific antigen/α1-antichymotrypsin (PSA–ACT) complex down to 100 pg/mL. The negative surface charge of PSA-ACT complex induced doping effect in PEDOT:PSS, which is the key sensing mechanism in this work. Besides, the detection limit was further improved to 1 pg/mL by using gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) conjugated with PSA polyclonal antibody(PSA pAb). More binding of AuNPs- PSA pAb with PSA–ACT complex were made and this led to more negative charges on the surface and so the sensitivity of the device increased.



Fig 2.2 PEDOT:PSS OECT antigen sensing.. [20]

2.1.3 DNA sensors

A label-free DNA sensor based on OECT was reported by Krishnamoorthy et al.. The device was using PEDOT channel.[22] Single-strand probe DNA was immobilized on the active layer during the polymerization of PEDOT. The device could detect the complementary target DNA in PBS solution down to 80 ng/mL. The sensing mechanism is based on the conformational change of PEDOT chains due to the hybridization of probe DNA and complementary DNA.



Then Lin et al. demonstrated a label-free PEDOT:PSS OECT DNA sensor [23] which was integrated in a microfluidic system on flexible polyethylene terephthalate (PET) substrates. Fig 2.3 shows the performance of the device did not have obvious change when the device was bent. They immobilized single-strand DNA probes on the Au gate electrode. The device was able to detect complementary DNA targets down to 1 nM. By using pulse-enhanced hybridization process of DNA, the



Fig 2.3 a) Schematic diagram of an OECT DNA sensor integrated in a flexible microfluidic system. b) Photographs of a bent device. c) Transfer characteristics of an OECT measured at immobilization state of DNA. d) Voltage shift of different target DNA in PBS solution.[23]



detection limit of OECT DNA sensor was further decreased to 10 pM. The sensing mechanism was attributed to the decrease of the work function of the Au gate electrode caused by the surface dipole formed by the intrinsic negative charge of DNA molecules.

2.1.4 Cell-based sensors

Lin et al. established the first OECT cell-based biosensor by using PEDOT:PSS.[24] The OECT showed excellent biocompatibility and was stable in culture medium. Cancers cells and fibroblasts were cultivated on the surface of PEDOT:PSS layers in the OECTs and the devices were characterized in culture medium. Fig 2.4 shows the behaviors of the OECT was characterized before and after the detachment of cancer cells from the PEDOT:PSS layer by trypsin treatment and the transfer characteristic of the devices were integrated with fibroblasts, similar result was obtained. These results confirmed that the electrostatic interaction between the cells and PEDOT:PSS layer could affect the transfer characteristic curve in the OECTs.





Fig 2.4 a,b) Optical images of cancer cells cultured on PEDOT:PSS films before and after detachment. c) Transfer characteristics of an OECT with cancer cells before and after trypsin solution treatment. Inset: Output characteristics of the OECT. d) Schematic diagram of the electrostatic interaction between an attached cell and PEDOT:PSS film.[24]



2.1.5 Neurotransmitter sensors

Neurotransmitters are the chemical compounds which transmit an impulse from a nerve cell to a target cell such as nerve cell, muscle cell or gland cell.[25] Different neurotransmitter has different psychological effect and too much or too few of them may cause some diseases. Hence several groups have focused on using OECTs to detect different neurotransmitter by various tactics, which will be introduced in this section.

2.1.5.1 Dopamine sensors

In 2011, Tang et al. published an article about the dopamine sensor based on PEDOT:PSS channel OECTs with the functionalized gate electrodes.[26] The dopamine molecules underwent electro-oxidation on the gate electrode and increased the effective gate voltage. As the first time of detecting dopamine based on OECTs, they used Au, Pt, graphite electrode, multi-walled carbon nano-tube to modifiy graphite electrode and multi-walled carbon nano-tubes to modify Pt electrode, and in the systematical work they found that the clean Pt electrode gave the highest current response among all the modification under the same condition. In Fig 2.5, this work showed that, in the electro-oxidation-based detection scheme, the electro-catalytic activity of the gate electrode as well as the conventional parameter of FET such as width to length ratio (W/L) and channel to gate area ratio (A_{ch} / A_g) all play important roles on optimizing the device performance. Therefore, the gate electrode applied in such electrochemical sensing should be designed very carefully. In 2014, Liao et al. applied the same sensing


concept and used a bio-compatible polymer Nafion to attract dopamine to the gate electrode by electrostatic interaction in the aqueous environment and repulse main interferences including uric acid and ascorbic acid molecules to realize a selective OECT-based dopamine sensor [27]. In this work, graphene based nano-materials were used to improve the performance including detection limit and slope in effective gate voltage against dopamine concentration.



Fig 2.5 (A) ID vs. time curve before and after an addition of 50 nM dopamine in PBS solution. (B) Normalized current responses (NCR) of the OECT with different gate electrodes of 50 nM dopamine. [26]



2.1.5.2 Glutamate and acetylcholine sensor

The glutamate and acetylcholine OECT sensors were demonstrated by Berggren et al. in 2014.[28] In their work, the enzymes, choline oxidase and L-glutamate oxidase, were employed to detect the acetylcholine and glutamate respectively. The Pt-NPs was dissolved in DMSO and mixed with the PEDOT:PSS to enhance the conductivity and employed as both gate electrode and active layer. The enzymes were immobilized on the gate electrode by a crosslinking technology.



Fig 2.6 Schematic representation of the glutamate and acetylcholine with PEDOT:PSS/Pt NPs OECT sensor.[28]

The enzymes could lead to the reaction of the aforementioned neurotransmitters on the gate electrodes and produce H_2O_2 , as shown in Fig. 2.6. Then H_2O_2 underwent



electro-oxidation on the gate electrode and electro-reduction on the channel and acted as signal molecule for the detection of both neurotransmitters. The two types of biosensors showed the detection limits of 5 μ M to glutamate and acetylcholine, respectively and the chemical reactions were shown in Fig. 2.7.



Fig 2.7 Enzymatic chemical reaction of a) glutamate and b) acetylcholine on the PEDOT:PSS electrode [28]

2.1.5.3 Epinephrine sensor

Even though it has no systematic studies the epinephrine sensing, Copped'e et al. fabricated PEDOT:PSS -based OECTs on cotton fibers for stress monitoring.[29] The architecture of the device is shown in Fig. 2.8. They claimed that the device could detect the epinephrine concentration in the human sweat and showed that the detection limit of the epinephrine sensing was 1μ M with a Pt gate electrode. The device's selectivity was tested by applying two electrodes, the Pt and Ag gate electrodes. However, the performance of the devices cannot meet the requirements in practical applications since



the epinephrine concentration in human plasma was very low (~0.2 nM). The high detection limit may be due to the poor stability of their devices, as evidenced by the big error bars of the current responses of the devices. Also the selectivity based on changing Ag gate electrode and Pt gate electrode was not convincing as Pt was shown as catalyst in electro-oxidation for many bioanalytes before.



Fig. 2.8 (a) Field emission SEM image of the PEDOT:PSS cotton wire. (b) the cotton-OECT with Ag and Pt electrode. (c) Concept diagram of the cotton-OECT device with a Pt gate and an epinephrine (adrenaline) molecule in its sensing process. (d) Epinephrine (adrenaline) oxidation reaction [29]



2.1.6 Glucose sensors

Glucose sensing has very important applications in the diagnosis of diabetes. Therefore, one of the popular research and application of OECTs was the highly sensitive glucose sensor. Many groups tried to use different active layers or different methods to sense glucose as introduces in this section.

Contractor et al. demonstrated the first polyaniline OECT glucose sensor in 1992.[30] The sensing mechanism was based on the modulation of pH in the electrolyte by adding glucose, which can change the conductivity of polyaniline. Then Malliaras et al. used PEDOT:PSS as the active layer to detect glucose with glucose oxidase in 2006.[31] The devices showed detection limit in micro-molar region. They confirmed that the glucose sensing was based on the oxidation of H_2O_2 generated by the added glucose in the solution. In 2007, the same group reported a detailed work on the enzymatic sensing based on PEDOT:PSS OECTs for detecting glucose.[8] As shown in Fig. 2.9, Nernst equation was used to explain the concept of effective gate voltage, potential distribution along the gate to channel, and offset voltage when the oxidized species (e.g. H_2O_2) was added into the electrolyte. Then they verified that the sensing mechanism was attributed to the Faradaic current generated on the gate electrode that can change the voltage



distribution between the gate, electrolyte and channel. As a result, the transfer curves at different glucose concentrations can be shifted to merge into a universal curve.



Fig. 2.9 (Left) Potential distribution across the gate to channel when the PEDOT:PSS OECT positive gate bias. Solid line: base solution. Dash line: In the presence of glucose. Dot line: The gate potential which give the same potential in electrolyte in dash line (Right) The shift of the transfer curves in different concentration and merge an universal curve.[8]

In 2011, Tang et al. reported glucose sensors with high sensitivity based on OECTs.[32] They used chitosan (CHIT) to immobilize the enzyme glucose oxidase on the gate electrode to sense the glucose concentration. The nano-materials, MWCNT and Pt-NPs, were integrated to enhance the sensitivities of the devices. The best gate modification showed 5nM to glucose while the Pt electrode with CHIT and GOx showed only 10 μ M. The result indicated that nano-materials could dramatically enhance the device sensitivity presumably due to the large surface to volume ratio and the unique electro-catalytic properties of the nano-materials. Two years later, they integrated more graphene based nano-materials to detect glucose with GOx.[33] CHIT and Nafion with different



concentrations were used to immobilize the enzyme GOx and nano-materials on the gate electrodes. Similar performance was resulted and the best device gave the detection limit of 10nM to glucose with good selectivity. The major improvement on the selectivity was mainly attributed to the negatively charged Nafion and chitosan on the gate electrodes.

2.1.7 Other biomolecules sensing

Uric acid (UA) and cholesterol enzymatic sensors were then demonstrated on flexible substrates by Liao et al.[34] The UA sensor was also successfully used in the detection of UA levels in saliva. Similar to the previously report OECT-based sensors, the bending test did not affect the performance after the device was bent for 1000 times. The novelty of this work is to use bilayer films with immobilized enzyme on the gate electrode and it is shown in Fig. 2.10. The bilayer was composed of a negatively charged Nafion with graphene followed by a positively charged layer polyaniline (PANI). The bilayer could repulse both positive (such as Dopamine) and negative (such as UA, AA) charged molecules and only neutral charged H₂O₂ could go through the bilayer. Finally, different kind of enzymes (such as uric acid oxidase, cholesterol oxidase, glucose oxidase) were immobilized on the bilayer with GO as GO showed good ability on immobilizing enzymes. H₂O₂ will be generated once the enzymes were in contact with their corresponding bioanalytes in the electrolyte. Therefore, highly selectivity enzymatic biosensors were obtained by modifying specific enzymes on the gate.



Fig 2.10 a) Schematic diagram of an OECT with a UOx-GO/PANI/Nafi on-graphene/Pt gate. b) Potential drops between the gate and channel of the OECT before (solid line) and after (dash line) the addition of UA in the PBS.

2.2 Summary

In summary, different architecture's OECTs were widely demonstrated for the applications in chemical and biological sensing. Different organic materials such as polypyrrole, polyaniline and PEDOT:PSS were successfully used for different bio-sensing applications. The ion, pH, DNA, antibody-antigen, neurotransmitters, glucose and uric acid were detected by PEDOT:PSS based OECTs. Many groups have developed various approaches to realize high performance biosensors based on channel modification, gate modification and pH adjustment. More importantly, some of the aforementioned OECTs have demonstrated good selectivity, which is important for the practical applications of the OECT-based sensors.



Chapter 3 Epinephrine sensing of Organic Electrochemical Transistors

In this Chapter, we studied the epinephrine sensing of OECTs (PEDOT:PSS channels) with different surface modifications on Pt gates. OECTs based on PEDOT:PSS prepared on cotton fibers have been used for sensing epinephrine due to the electro-oxidation of epinephrine on Pt gates and gave a detection limit of ~1 μ M.[29] To enhance the performance of epinephrine sensors, systematic studies on the OECT-based epinephrine sensors have been carried out. The OECTs were modified with different nano-materials together with Nafion on Pt gates and have shown much lower detection limit and selectivity. This investigation pave a way for realizing high-performance and low-cost epinephrine sensors suitable for practical applications.

3.1 Introduction

Epinephrine (EPI) is a neurotransmitter and hormone, and its metabolism can lead to glycogenolysis in liver and skeletal muscle, mobilization of free fatty acid, plasma lactate and rate of heart contraction increase.[35,36] Due to these physiological effects, epinephrine is banned in world class games.[37,38] However these effects have medical applications for patient such as cardiac arrest in emergency. Therefore, disposal, highly sensitive and selective epinephrine sensors would find important medical applications.



Different approaches such as liquid chromatography (HPLC),[39,40] polarography[41] and electrochemical methods[42-46] have been developed to detect epinephrine successfully. Compared with these methods, electrochemical sensors are low cost, convenient, portable and feasible for miniaturization. For example, Tsai et al. reported epinephrine electrochemical sensors with a detection limit of 50 μ M by using Pd-Au nano-particles modified glassy carbon electrodes.[47] Valentini et al. used single-wall carbon nanotubes -modified glassy carbon and stainless steel microelectrodes in cyclic voltammetry (CV) measurements and gave a detection limit of 2 μ M.[48] Furthermore, OECTs prepared on cotton fibers reported by Coppede et al. were used to detect epinephrine in NaCl solution and showed obvious response when the concentration is above 1 μ M.[29] However, the epinephrine concentration in human plasma normally is very low (~0.2nM),[49] so the sensitivity of electrochemical methods have to be significantly improved for practical applications.

OECTs have been used in many applications since it was introduced from 1984.[3] Its electrolyte environment and low working voltage made it very useful for biological and chemical sensing. So OECTs have already performed ions, bacteria, glucose, neurotransmitters, DNA, cells and so on (see Chapter 2). It normally showed low detection limit due to the amplification function of the transistors. Therefore highly sensitive epinephrine sensors could be achieved by OECTs. OECTs with PEDOT:PSS as the active layers were prepared by solution process. To enhance their sensitivity,



nanomaterial and Nafion mixtures were modified on the gate electrodes of the OECTs and pronounced effects were obtained. Different potentially low-cost carbon-based nanomaterials, including graphene flakes (Gr), graphene oxide (GO) and single walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs), were used in the gate modification. The device with Nafion and SWNTs modified on the gate electrode shows a detection limit down to 0.1nM, which is sensitive enough for practical uses. Considering that OECTs can be easily prepared with solution process, the OECT-based epinephrine sensors are promising for disposal clinical applications or medical safety check.

3.2 Fabrication, preparation and measurement of OECT epinephrine sensors

3.2.1 Fabrication of OECTs

 $1 \text{cm} \times 1 \text{cm}$ glass slides were cut from the microslides and washed by acetone, IPA, ethanol, and DI water thoroughly. Then they were stacked on a metal shadow mask firmly by taped and Ti/Pt electrodes (~100nm) were sputtered on them. Then O₂ plasma treatment was done and PEDOT:PSS (Clevios PH500) was coated on the substrates by a spincoater. The PEDOT:PSS which was not on the channel area would be removed by cotton swab with ethanol. The substrates were then annealed in a nitrogen-filled glove box at 185°C for one hour. Silicone seal was painted on the parts of the electrodes



without PEDOT:PSS to avoid short circuit in electrolyte. After the seal was dried, the OECTs is ready for the next steps.

3.2.2 Preparation of OECTs epinephrine sensor

For the gate modification, Nafion(5%) and nanomaterials (graphene, SWNT, GO) were mixed with a volume ratio of 1:1 and drop-coated on the $3mm \times 3mm$ clean Pt gates. Then the electrodes were dried in a 4°C refrigerator for 4 hours. To obtain epinephrine solution, epinephrine hydrochloride powder was dissolved in 1x PBS to obtain 10mM solution and diluted to different concentrations required in experiments.

3.2.3 Measurement of OECTs

All measurements were measured by two labview controlled Keithley 2400 sourcemeters with a USB to transfer and monitor the experimental data. The channel and gate electrodes were rinsed with PBS solution to remove the undesired residue on the channel and gate and immerse in the 10ml PBS solution which was stirred in a beaker. The transfer characteristic curve (I_{DS} vs V_G) was first measured with V_{DS} =0.1V and V_G varied from 0V to 1.2V. Then the channel current (I_{DS}) was measured as a function of time (t) with fixed voltages $V_{DS} = 0.1V$ and $V_G = 0.6V$. V_{DS} is designed to have relatively high current value but still much smaller than the $V_G = 0.6$. V_G is designed to have enough



oxidation voltage in OECT and much higher than the V_{DS} but not enough to electro-oxidize the electrolyte. Different volumes of 10mM epinephrine solution were added in the beaker to modulate the epinephrine concentration in PBS solution from 0.1nM to about 3µM for many steps and the corresponding channel current changes were recorded simultaneously.



Fig. 3.1 (a) The schematic diagram of an OECT-based epinephrine sensor with a Nafion and nanomaterial-modified gate electrode. (b) The oxidation of epinephrine at the gate electrode modified by Nafion and carbon-based nanomaterials.



3.3 Working principle of OECT-based epinephrine sensors

As discussed before, the conductance of the PEDOT:PSS channel of an OECT can be modulated by the gate voltage due to the electrochemical doping by cations from the electrolyte.[9]The channel current I_{DS} of the device at different source-drain voltage V_{DS} and gate voltage V_G is given by the following equation:[3][8] [see also eq. 1.1]

$$I_{DS} = \frac{q\mu p_0 t W}{L V_p} (V_p - V_G^{eff} + \frac{V_{DS}}{2}) V_{DS}, \quad (\text{when } |V_{DS}| << |V_p - V_G^{eff}|)$$

$$V_p = q p_0 t / c_i,$$

$$V_G^{eff} = V_G + V_{offset},$$
(1.1)
(3.1)

where q and μ are electronic charge and hole mobility, respectively; p_0 is the initial hole density in the channel; V_p and $V_G e^{ff}$ are the pinch-off voltage and the effective gate voltage on the transistor, respectively; V_{offset} is an offset voltage at gate/electrolyte interfaces; t is the thickness of the active layer; W and L are the channel width and length of the OECT, respectively; c_i is the effective gate capacitance.

The working mechanism of the OECT-based epinephrine sensors is shown in Fig. 3.1. The direct electro-oxidation of epinephrine released two electrons per epinephrine



molecule and produce Faradaic current between the gate electrode and the electrolyte interface. The direct electro-oxidation of epinephrine in PBS is given by the formula:[50][51]

$$epinephrine \rightarrow epinephrine \ quinone + 2H^+ + 2e^- \qquad (3.2)$$

The Faradaic current produced by the direct electro-oxidation of epinephrine at the gate electrode could change the potential difference between the electrolyte and the gate electrode and hence change the effective gate voltage V_G^{eff} of the transistor given by: [8][9]

$$V_G^{eff} = V_G + \alpha \log[EPI] + constant$$
$$\alpha = 2.3(1 + \gamma)kT/2e$$
(3.3)

where γ is the ratio between the electrical double layer capacitances of the electrolyte/channel interface (C_C) and the electrolyte/gate interface (C_G), $\gamma = C_C/C_G$; *k* is Boltzmann constant; *T* is room temperature and [*EPI*] is the concentration of epinephrine. Therefore, the increase of the epinephrine concentration in the beaker will increase the effective gate voltage of the OECTs and thus decrease the channel current. In other words,



the transfer curve of the OECT will shift to lower gate voltage after the addition of epinephrine in the solution, which will be discussed in section 3.4.

3.4 Performance and discussion on OECTs epinephrine

sensors

The low cost, highly sensitive epinephrine sensors with low detection limit have been realized using OECT by optimizing the performance with Nafion and nano-material modified gate electrode. The best device modification gave the detection limit of 0.1 nM and covered the normal concentration level in human plasma and medical safety check.

3.4.1 Device performance with clean Pt gate

The clean Pt gate electrode without modification was employed to observe the OECT's output characteristic and transfer curve. Fig. 3.2(a) showed an obvious voltage shift was observed by comparing the transfer curves in 1x PBS solution and 1x PBS solution with 10µM epinephrine. It was because the epinephrine underwent electro-oxidation at gate voltage and the effective gate voltage increased. Therefore for the transistor needed smaller gate voltage to obtain the same current and then the curve shifted to lower the gate voltage.

Fig. 3.2(b) shows the output curve and the PEDOT:PSS based OECT is a p-type transistor in PBS solution as it has decreasing current with increasing gate voltage (V_G) under the same drain current (V_{DS}).





Fig 3.2. (a) Output curves (I_{DS} - V_{DS} at different V_G) of the OECT characterized in PBS solution. (b) Transfer curves (I_{DS} - V_G) of an OECT with a Pt gate electrode characterized in PBS solution before and after the addition of epinephrine with the concentration of 10 μ M.

3.4.1.1 Epinephrine sensing with clean Pt gate

After the transfer curve is obtained, the channel current (I_{DS}) was measured as a function of time (t) by increasing the EPI concentration in the beaker. The EPI molecules undergo electro-oxidation at Pt gate electrode surface and produce Faradaic current.

According to the Nernst equation there are a potential difference change between electrolyte and electrode when electro-oxidation is happened.[8] Therefore the



electrolyte's potential is increased and more cation in the PBS solution de-doped the channel PEDOT:PSS to decrease the hole concentration and hence decrease the charge carriers' concentration and current.

The device showed the channel current noise level of ~0.05µA, which is much lower than the channel current (>100µA) of the device. As shown in the inset of Fig. 3.3(a), the detection limit (signal/noise ratio > 3) of the device to epinephrine is ~30nM and the slope α for the effective gate voltage change ΔV_G^{eff} versus epinephrine concentration in logarithmic axis (log[EPI]) is 210mV/decade. The channel current change is due to the change in the effective gate voltage V_G^{eff} of the OECT given by Equations (3.1). The effective gate voltages corresponding to different epinephrine concentrations can be decided according to the transfer curve (I_{DS} vs. V_G) of the OECT shown in the inset of Fig. 3.3 (b). By subtracting the corresponding gate voltage before adding epinephrine, we can calculate the changes of the effective gate voltage (ΔV_G^{eff}). Therefore, the response of the device to epinephrine can be presented as ΔV_G^{eff} versus [EPI].





Fig 3.3 (a) The normalized current response of an OECT with a Pt gate to the increasing epinephrine concentration in PBS solution measured at V_{DS} =0.1V and V_G =0.6V. I_0 =291.67µA. Inset: the enlarged current response at the detection limit of the device (30nM). (b) The offset voltage change as a function of the logarithmic value of epinephrine concentration ([EPI]). Inset: Transfer curve (I_{DS} versus V_G) of the OECT measured in PBS solution with V_{DS} =0.1V.



3.4.2 Nafion/nano-materials mixture modification and

electrocatalytic effect

Nafion, an acidic polymer with the stable Teflon backbone and the acidic sulfonic groups, [52] was employed as a matrix to modify the Pt gate electrodes together with the carbon based nano-materials SWNT, GO, graphene (Gr) separately to enhance the sensitivity[46,48] of epinephrine sensing due to its biocompatible and porous structure. Moreover the carbon based nano-materials had large surface to volume ratio, conductive and relatively cheap, commercial available and have already shown their superior function in other electrochemical sensing method. As shown in Fig.3.1 (b), due to Nafion is negatively charged and epinephrine is positively charged (pKa=8.02) [50] in neutral PBS buffer solution, it is believed that epinephrine would be attracted to the Pt gate when porous Nafion film is on the top of the Pt gate electrode. That would increase the sensitivity and enhance the detection limit. Hence, the surface modification on the gate electrodes is important to the performance of the devices, which has been optimized in this experiment. The homogeneous composite droplets were uniformly, fully coated on the Pt gate surface by drop coating the mixture on the gate surface. The following modification was tested for the epinephrine sensing: (a) Nafion film (average thickness: 1.2 µm), (b) Nafion film (2.3 µm), (c) Nafion+SWNT film (2.1 µm), (d) Nafion+Gr film $(2.0 \ \mu\text{m})$ and (e) Nafion+GO films $(2.2 \ \mu\text{m})$. By the AFM the surface roughness values (r.m.s.) of all films are \sim 3.8 nm, as shown in Fig 3.4.



The electrodes were used to observe the electrocatalytic effect by running the cyclic voltammetry (CV). CHI660B electrochemical workstation (CH Instruments, Inc) and a standard three-electrode electrolytic cell were employed for the CV measurements of Pt electrodes which were with/without Nafion-nanomaterials modified (area size: 3mm × 3mm) in an epinephrine (1mM) PBS solution. The voltage scan rate is 50mV/s relative to a standard Ag/AgCl reference electrode and Au counter electrode (size: 3mm × 3mm). As shown in Fig 3.5, the Nafion/nanomaterial modified electrodes and clean Pt electrode had the oxidation peaks at ~ 0.6 V and ~ 0.3 V respectively. The increased oxidation peak voltages after the modification of Nafion can be attributed to the Nafion film that limits the diffusion rate of epinephrine. Besides, the modification of Nafion on the Pt electrode can obviously increase the peak value of the redox current due to the fact that the negatively charged Nafion can attract positively charged epinephrine molecules in the PBS solution to increase the concentration of epinephrine near the electrode.





Fig 3.4 AFM images of Pt gate electrodes modified with different films, including (a) 1.2μm thick Nafion; (b) 2.3μm thick Nafion; (c) Nafion+SWNT composite; (d) Nafion+Gr composite; (e) Nafion+GO composite





Fig 3.5 Cyclic voltammograms of Pt electrodes modified with different films measured in 1mM epinephrine PBS solution. Voltage scan rate: 50mV/s.

3.4.2.1 Epinephrine sensing with Nafion modified Pt gate

To optimize the Nafion's thickness for epinephrine sensing, Pt gate electrodes with Nafion (1.2 μ m) and Nafion (2.3 μ m) modification were used for epinephrine sensing. With the same characterization method, the detection limits were found to be 10nM for both and the slope α for the effective gate voltage change ΔV_G^{eff} versus epinephrine concentration in logarithmic axis (log[EPI]) are 136mV/decade and 194mV/decade respectively, as shown in Fig. 3.6. The enhancement on detection limit compare to clean



Pt gate electrode could be attributed to the increased local concentration of epinephrine near the gate attracted by Nafion. The negatively charged Nafion attract the positively charge epinephrine so that the epinephrine diffused across the porous Nafion and contact the Pt surface to undergo electro-oxidation. It was also shown that the slope α was higher for the device with a thicker Nafion film. The higher slope meant higher current response in Faradaic region therefore in the mixture with nano-material, Nafion (~2.3 µm) was chosen to mix the nano-material.







Fig 3.6 (a) The normalized current responses of OECTs with (a) 1.2µm thick (I_0 =317.79µA) (b) 2.3 µm thick Nafion films modified on Pt gates to the increasing epinephrine concentration in PBS solution (I_0 =227.20µA). V_{DS}=0.1V, V_G=0.6V,. Insets: The enlarged current responses at the detection limits (10nM). (c) The effective gate voltage change (ΔV_G^{eff}) of the two OECTs as a function of the logarithmic value of epinephrine concentration (Log[EPI]).



3.4.2.2 Epinephrine sensing with Nafion/nano-materials modified Pt gate

After optimizing the Nafion quantity for epinephrine sensing, the Nafion was mixed with the carbon based nano-material SWNT, graphene and GO and drop-coated on the gate surface. The Pt gate electrode with different Nafion/nano-materials modification were used to perform the epinephrine sensing. The experimental conditions were the same as the previous experiment.



Fig 3.7 The normalized current responses of OECTs with (a) Nafion+GO (I_0 =313.13µA); (b) Nafion+Gr (I_0 =367.53µA) and (c) Nafion+SWNT films modified on Pt gates to the increasing epinephrine concentration in PBS solution (I_0 =119.02µA). V_{DS}=0.1V, V_G=0.6V. Insets: the enlarged current responses at the detection limits ((a) 10nM, (b) 1nM; (c) 0.1nM). (d) The effective gate voltage change ($\Delta V G^{eff}$) of the OECTs with different gate electrodes as a function of the logarithmic value of epinephrine concentration (Log[EPI]).



Since the OECTs co-modified with Nafion and different nanomaterials (SWNT, Gr and GO) gate electrodes were characterized at the same conditions. Fig. 3.7(a) shows the normalized channel current responses of the OECT with Nafion+GO/Pt gate to epinephrine addition in PBS solution. The detection limit is about 10nM, which is similar to that of the device with Nafion/Pt gate. Therefore, the modification of GO on the Pt gate has little effect on the OECT-based epinephrine biosensors. Fig. 3.7b shows the normalized channel current response of the OECT with Nafion+Gr modified on the Pt gate. The device exhibits an obvious channel current response down to the concentration of 1nM. This enhancement could be due to the enhanced electrocatalytic activity of the gate electrode to epinephrine. Fig 3.7(c) shows the normalized channel current response of the device modified with Nafion+SWNTs on the Pt gate to additions of epinephrine. The detection limit of the device is as low as 0.1nM, which is much lower than those of the aforementioned devices. This result is consistent with the CV measurements of the gate electrodes in epinephrine PBS solution. So the lowest detection limit of the device can be attributed to the highest electrocatalytic activity of the Nafion+SWNT modified Pt gate.

The selectivity of the device is an important issue in practical use as it has been reported that OECTs can be used as many types of electrochemical biosensors. Therefore in this work the major interferences including ascorbic acid (AA) and uric acid (UA) were tested by the device with the Nafion+SWNT/Pt modified gate electrode. We found that the device showed obvious responses to AA and UA at the minimum concentrations of 0.1μ M and 1μ M respectively, as shown in Fig. 3.8.





Fig 3.8 Normalized current responses of the OECT with a Nafion/SWCN modified Pt gate to additions of (a) uric acid (UA) and (b) ascorbic acid (AA) measured at V_{DS} =0.1V and V_{G} =0.6V



Table 3.1 The detection limit and the slope of effective gate voltage per decade of the epinephrine concentration (α) of

OECT-based epinephrine biosensors.

Gate of OECT	Detection limit (nM)	α (mV/decade)
Pt	30	210
1.2µm-thick Nafion/Pt	10	136
2.3µm-thick Nafion/Pt	10	194
Nafion+GO/Pt	10	239
Nafion+Gr/Pt	1	248
Nafion+SWNTs/Pt	0.1	533

 Table 3.2
 Comparison of previously reported epinephrine biosensors by different electrochemical methods

Method	Modification	Detection limit(nM)	Reference
Square wave voltammogram	pyrolytic graphite electrode	170	42
ISFET	Au nanoparticles immobilized on the electrolyte/Al ₂ O ₃ sensing interface	1000	43
CV	White rot fungi cells immobilized on Pt electrode	1040	44
Differential pulse voltammetry	Over-oxidized polypyrrole/multi-walled carbon nanotube composite on glassy carbon electrode	40	45
Amperometric detection	Multiwall carbon nanotubes on basal plane pyrolytic graphite electrode	20	46
Cotton-fiber OECT	Pt gate with no surface modification	~1000	29
OECT	Nafion and different carbon based nanomaterial immobilized on the Pt gate surface.	0.1-30	This Work



3.4.3 Comparison of other transistor based epinephrine biosensors

Table 3.2 shows the results of different electrochemical method, the best device in this work gave the detection limit of 0.1nM while the Cotton-fiber OECT and the ISFET both gave 1μ M.[29][43] It should be noted that all the sensors, including our sensors, were transistor based sensors. This gave a chance to compare the inorganic thin film transistor and organic thin film transistor, and both organic transistor with different architecture. Compared with the epinephrine sensors based on conventional ion-sensitive field effect transistors (ISFETs), the improved performance can be attributed to the following two factors. One is the low operation voltage (less than 1 V) of the OECT and the other is the sensing mechanism of the OECT based on the detection of the electrochemical reaction of epinephrine on the gate. For a Si-based ISFET, the operational voltage is around 10V that is one order of magnitude higher than that of the OECT. Therefore the OECT-based sensor is much more sensitive to potential change in the interface than typical ISFET-based transistors. Also for the electrochemical reaction of epinephrine on the gate, the sensitivity of the device can be enhanced by improving the electrocatalytic activity of the gate electrode.

Compared the performance of cotton-fiber OECT and OECTs in our work, the different performance might be due to the poor stability of their devices, as evidenced by the big error bars of the current responses of the devices. Also the cotton may be too thick compare to the usual channel thickness, so that it might not be a thin film transistor even it showed the transistor behavior.



3.5 Summary

In summary, OECTs with Pt gate electrodes modified with biocompatible polymer (Nafion) and carbon-based nano-materials (SWNT, graphene flakes or GO) show high sensitivity and low detection limit to epinephrine. Nafion can enhance the sensitivity of the device by attracting epinephrine molecules to the gate electrode due to their opposite charge. Compare to the Nafion/Pt gate electrode, SWNT and graphene flakes modified on the gate electrode can further improve the sensitivity and decrease the detection limit of the device due to the enhanced electrocatalytic activity of the gate electrode. The device modified with Nafion and SWNTs shows the lowest detection limit of 0.1nM, which is sensitive enough for practical applications. Considering that the OECT-based epinephrine sensors can be prepared by low-cost and convenient solution process, this type of devices are promising transducers for disposable applications in the future.



Chapter 4 Cholesterol Sensing of Organic Electrochemical Transistors

In this chapter, cholesterol sensors based on OECTs were introduced and systematically studied. The device sensitivity was improved when the enzyme cholesterol oxidase and graphene/graphene oxide were immobilized on the gate electrode together with biocompatible polymer Nafion. The optimized devices gave the linear region cover the concentration levels of cholesterol much lower than that in human plasma. Therefore, highly sensitive cholesterol sensors were fabricated by functionalizing the gate electrodes of OECT by enzymes and carbon based nano-materials. In addition, because the devices are fabrication easy, relatively small size and low-cost, they are suitable for one-use disposable bio-sensing applications. We also studied the indirect cholesterol sensing of OECTs by using the enzyme cholesterol oxidase (ChOx). Nafion was employed as the matrix for immobilizing the enzyme ChOx and nano-material to enhance the device sensitivity. ChOx could decompose cholesterol and produce hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), which can be easily detected by OECTs.

4.1 Introduction

Cholesterol is a biomolecule frequently found in the food. Normally the cholesterol level in human plasma is 1.3 - 2.6mg/ml (3.36mM to 6.72mM).[53] High cholesterol level in human blood plasma will lead to a high risk in having heart disease and high blood



pressure.[54] So the accurate and rapid detection of cholesterol level is important to human health and food industries. The research on highly sensitive cholesterol biosensors based on different methods have been carried out for many years and found some practical applications with satisfactory performance.[55]

Many different cholesterol sensors based on electrochemical methods, such as amperometric, potentiometric and conductometric cholesterol detections,[55]were demonstrated by the aid of the enzyme ChOx, which can enhance its selectivity and decrease the operational voltage. The signals in the electrochemical detections were mainly produced by electro-oxidation of H_2O_2 generated by cholesterol, similar to the glucose sensors based on OECTs [32][33] and solution-gated graphene transistors reported before.[56] It has been recognized that the integration of enzyme with nano-materials such as graphene flakes and graphene oxide and Nafion/Chitosan biocompatible polymers can dramatically improve the sensitivities and detection limit of such enzyme biosensors. Therefore, similar result would be expected in the enzymatic cholesterol sensing based on OECTs.

In this Chapter, OECT-based cholesterol sensors with enzyme-nanomaterial co-modified gate electrodes were prepared and characterized. Nafion, graphene/graphene oxide and the cholesterol oxidase (ChOx) were mixed and deposited on the gate electrodes to improve the sensitivity and decrease the detection limit of the devices. The best device with Nafion, GO and ChOx modified on the Pt gate electrode showed a detection limit of 10nM and linear response from 1μ M. So the devices are sensitive enough to detect the



cholesterol level of human plasma since the cholesterol level is 1.3 - 2.6mg/ml (3.36mM to 6.72mM) in human plasma normally. We also noticed that the performance of the devices are better than that of the cholesterol biosensors reported before.[57][58][59][60]

4.2 Fabrication, preparation and measurement of OECT cholesterol sensors

The preparation and measurements were similar to the sections 3.2.1 and 3.2.3, therefore in this section only the modification procedure of the gate electrodes is introduced.

4.2.1 Preparation of OECTs cholesterol sensor

For the gate modification, Nafion(5%), ChOx (stock solution 3.9 mg/mL) in 0.1x PBS solution and nanomaterials (graphene, GO) were mixed with the volume ratio of 2:1:1 to obtain mixture solutions. The mixtures were drop-coated on $3\text{mm} \times 3\text{mm}$ clean Pt gates and then the electrodes were dried in 4°C refrigerator for 4 hours.

Cholesterol solution was prepared by dissolving cholesterol powder into the 1x PBS solution with 1% v/v Triton X-100 to obtain 1mM cholesterol solution and then diluted with 1x PBS to obtain the other concentration solutions.



4.3 Working principle of OECT-based cholesterol sensors

The conductance of the PEDOT:PSS channel of an OECT can be changed by the gate voltage due to the electrochemical doping by cations from the electrolyte. So the channel current is sensitive to the offset voltage at the gate surface of the OECT. In sensing applications, the reaction of an analyte can lead to the change of offset voltage on the gate surface and thus a channel current response, such as the epinephrine sensor introduced in Chapter 3. Therefore, the cholesterol indirect sensing was based on the oxidation of H_2O_2 generated by cholesterol on the gate electrode.



Fig 4.1 The device structure of OECT cholesterol sensor and the reaction cycle



The working mechanism of the OECT-based cholesterol sensors is shown in Fig. 4.1. Nafion was used to immobilize the enzyme ChOx and nano-material on the gate electrode. ChOx can decompose the cholesterol into Cholest-4-en-3-one and H_2O_2 and H_2O_2 undergoes direct electro-oxidation to release two electrons per H_2O_2 molecule and produces Faradaic current between the gate electrode and the electrolyte interface. The whole biochemical reactions of cholesterol sensing in PBS is given by the formulas: [55][57][59][60]

Cholesterol +
$$O_2 \xrightarrow{ChOx} Cholest - 4 - en - 3 - one + H_2O_2$$
 (4.1 a)
 $H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{electro-oxidation} 2H^+ + O_2 + 2e^-$
(4.1 b)

The Faradaic current produced by the direct electro-oxidation of H_2O_2 at the gate electrode could change the potential difference between the electrolyte and the gate electrode and hence change the effective gate voltage V_G eff of the OECT given by:

$$V_G^{eff} = V_G + \alpha \log[H_2 O_2] + constant$$

where $\alpha = 2.3(1 + \gamma)kT/2e$

(4.2)


where γ is the ratio between the electrical double layer capacitances of the electrolyte/channel interface (*C_C*) and the electrolyte/gate interface (*C_G*), $\gamma = C_C/C_G$; *k* is Boltzmann constant; *T* is room temperature and [*H*₂*O*₂] is the concentration of hydrogen peroxide.

However, from equation 4.1a, the H_2O_2 concentration in the beaker should be directly related to the cholesterol concentration added in the beaker. Therefore, the increase of cholesterol concentration would increase the effective gate voltage of the OECT given by:

$$V_G^{eff} = \alpha_{chol} \log[chol] + constant$$
(4.3)

In other words, the transfer curve of the OECT will shift to lower the gate voltage after the addition of cholesterol in the solution.

4.4 Performance and discussion on OECT cholesterol

sensors

The Low cost, highly sensitive cholesterol sensors with low detection limit have been realized by using OECTs with Nafion, ChOx and graphene/graphene oxide -modified gate electrodes. The optimum device modification led to the detection limit of 10nM and covered the normal concentration level in human plasma. Therefore, it is sensitive enough for medical or food checking applications.



4.4.1 Nafion with enzyme matrix modification on Pt gate

Nafion, as introduced in the Chapter 3, was a porous polymer with stable Teflon backbone and acidic sulfonic groups.[52] It was employed as an enzyme matrix for immobilizing the enzyme ChOx on the gate electrodes of OECTs, being similar to other transistor-based enzyme biosensors reported before.[32][33][56] The Nafion of about 2μ m thickness was modified on the Pt electrode, which is thick enough to effectively immobilize the enzyme on the gate electrode. In the sensing process, H₂O₂ molecules were produced by ChOx and underwent electro-oxidation immediately on the gate while the negatively charged Nafion would not affect the sensing performance.

4.4.2 Device performance with Nafion mixture modified Pt gate

The Nafion and ChOx with/without nano-materials (graphene or graphene oxide) modified Pt gate electrode were employed to detect the cholesterol concentrations in PBS solutions. After the transfer curve was obtained, the channel current (I_{DS}) was measured as a function of time (t) by increasing the cholesterol concentration in the beaker. Channel current responses to additions of cholesterol in the solution were obtained immediately.

Fig. 4.2 shows ΔV_G^{eff} against the cholesterol concentration for different surface modifications. The device with Nafion-GO/ChOx/Pt gate has the gate voltage change of



about 106.064mV for increasing one decade cholesterol concentration. The one with Nafion-graphene/ChOx/Pt gate shows the slope of 96.028mV/decade and another one with Nafion/ChOx/Pt gate shows the response for 99.192mV/decade. The results suggest that the method for immobilizing the enzyme ChOx on the gate was successful and nano-materials can enhance the sensitivity of the OECTs.











Fig 4.2 (a)(c)(e) The normalized current response of the OECTs with (a) Nafion /ChOx, (c) Nafion/GO/ChOx, (e) Nafion/Graphene/ChOx modified Pt gate to the increasing cholesterol concentration in PBS solution measured at V_{DS} =0.1V and V_G =0.6V. Inset: the enlarged current response at the detection limit of the device of (a) 100nM, (c) 10nM, (e) 10nM.

(b)(d)(f) The offset voltage change as a function of the logarithmic value of cholesterol concentration with (b) Nafion /ChOx, (d) Nafion/GO/ChOx, (f) Nafion/Graphene/ChOx modified Pt gate. Inset: Transfer curve (I_{DS} versus V_G) of the OECT measured in PBS solution with V_{DS} =0.1V



Table 4.1 Detection limit and the change of effective gate voltage (α) of the OECT-based sensors to cholesterol solution

Modification on Pt Gate electrodes	Cholesterol		
	Detection limit	α (mV/decade)	
Nafion+GO+ChOx	10	106.064	
Nafion+Gr+ChOx	10	96.02	
Nafion+ChOx	100	99.192	

Table 4.1 indicates that the carbon based nano-materials could decrease the detection limit and increase the slope of ΔV_G^{eff} versus cholesterol concentration in logarithmic axis (log[chol]). As the linear response of the cholesterol sensor ranged from 1µM to 40µM, it is sensitive enough for detecting the cholesterol levels in blood plasma.

In addition, the detection limits of the OECT cholesterol sensors were much lower than those of the other electrochemical approaches. The devices could have broader applications rather than medical application, such as cholesterol-free checking for food, snack, milk and other beverages.

In practical applications, OECTs' responses were also dependent on the ion concentration of the working electrolyte,[9] so it is necessary to dilute the isolated cholesterol of plasma or food in buffer solution in the detection. For example, the typical cholesterol level in human plasma is between 3.36mM and 6.72mM, so isolated cholesterol from the blood



plasma is needed to be diluted to the concentration of about 1% by PBS for characterization and it would give the concentration between 33.6μ M and 67.2μ M, which can be easily detected by the OECT-based sensors.

It has been reported that graphene oxide (GO) could retain proteins' biological activity when they were mixed, indicating promising applications of graphene oxide in OECT biosensors.[61] More importantly, plentiful reactive sites are presented on GO sheets, making it an excellent material for immobilizing enzyme. This may be the reasons that Nafion-GO/ChOx/Pt gate electrode gives the best performance in cholesterol sensing. This result also indicates that not only the electrochemical activity but also enzyme immobilization ability of the nano-materials play important roles on the device performance.

4.4.3 Comparison of other cholesterol biosensors

Compared to the previous cholesterol sensors, [57][58][59]-60] especially the transistorbased sensors, the OECT-based cholesterol sensors showed much lower detection limits down to 10 nM. For the carbon nanotube field effect transistors (CNTFETs) and enzyme field effect transistors (ENFETs) with graphene channel mentioned above, even the similar enzyme modifications on the devices were performed, the detection limits of the two devices were 500 and 1400 μ M, respectively, which are nearly ten thousand times



higher than that of our OECT sensors. Table 4.2 list some cholesterol sensors' detection limits compare with our group's OECTs.

 Table 4.2
 Comparison of different electrochemical based cholesterol biosensors

Method/Device	Modification	Detection limit(µM)	Reference
Chronoamperometry	Silver nanoparticles modified glassy carbon electrode	25.8	[57]
	with ChOx		
Molecularly imprinted polymer	Electropolymerization of 2-mercaptobenzimidazole on	0.42	[58]
capacitive (MIPC) sensor	a gold electrode in the presence of cholesterol		
CNTFET	ChOx immobilized on the PANI/ZnO membrane by	500	[59]
	physical adsorption technique		
ENFET	ChOx has been immobilized on K/PPy/CNT membrane	1400	[60]
	via physical adsorption technique		
OECT	ChOx immobilized on Pt gate surface by mixing ChOx	0.01	This Work
	with Nafion and different carbon based nano-material		
OECT	via physical adsorption technique ChOx immobilized on Pt gate surface by mixing ChOx with Nafion and different carbon based nano-material	0.01	This Work

There are several main reasons for the large difference in the three types of devices. The first one is that the enzyme immobilizations in their works were on the channel rather than on the gate electrode. Because the electro-oxidation of H_2O_2 is mainly on the gate electrode, if the H_2O_2 production area is on the channel like their work, H_2O_2 needs to



diffuse to the gate electrode through the electrolyte and the efficiency is lower than that produced on the gate electrode directly.

The second reason is the different gate electrodes employed in the devices. The Pt gate electrode has shown better electro-catalytic effect than Ag/AgCl on electro-oxidation of H_2O_2 .

The third reason is the detection method. In their work, they claimed that one sensing mechanisms was due to "protons affect the potential of the gate interface and consequently affect the potential difference between the gate and the source and modulate the channel current"[60]for the releasing of protons H⁺ by electro-oxidation of H₂O₂, and the other mechanism was due to "the interfacial potential (ΔV_{in}) developed at the interface between electrolyte solution and oxide layer of the FET"[59] by a Nernst-like equation. So the sensing mechanism is completely different from that of the OECT-based sensors. On the other hand, the working voltage of an OECT is much lower than that of the field effect transistors, making the OECT-based sensors more sensitive to potential changes induced by the analytes.

4.5 Summary

In summary, OECTs with Pt gate electrodes modified with biocompatible polymer (Nafion), ChOx and carbon-based nano-materials (graphene flakes or GO) show high sensitivity and low detection limit to cholesterol. Nafion was successfully used to immobilize the enzyme ChOx and nano-materials (graphene and GO) on the gate to



enhance the device performance. Compared to the Nafion/ChOx/Pt and Nafion/Gr/Pt gate electrodes, Nafion/GO/Pt gate electrodes can further improve the response of voltage shift, which is presumably due to GO that can immobilize enzyme ChOx more effectively for the existence of plentiful reactive sites. The devices have shown much better performance than other transistor-based cholesterol sensors. The optimized device modified with Nafion and GO shows the lowest detection limit of 10 nM, which was sensitive enough for both food safety and clinical applications.



Chapter 5 Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP) sensing of Organic Electrochemical Transistors

In this Chapter, we studied the indirect ATP sensing of OECTs by the aid of the two enzymes: glucose oxidase (GOx) and Hexokinase (HEX). GOx decomposes glucose and produced signal molecule hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) for sensing. On the other hand, HEX can combine ATP and glucose to form non-signal molecules adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and D-glucose 6-phosphate and reduce the signal molecules H_2O_2 . Nafion was used as the enzyme immobilization matrix in the dual enzyme OECTs and excellent performance has been obtained.

5.1 Introduction

Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is a big molecule composed of a base adensine, a ribose sugar and three phosphate groups. When ATP undergoes hydrolysis, it will break and give adenosine diphosphate (ADP), HPO_4^{2-} and energy (31kJ/mol).[62] Therefore ATP is a "high-energy" compound and can release energy to cells for any purpose. As one kind of neurotransmitter,[63] previous literature indicated that a human's consumption of ATP in weight is in the order of kilogram per day.[64] In food factory, ATP concentration can be used for monitoring microbiological processes and as an indicator in food



safety.[65] Moreover, the normal ATP concentrations in cells were in milli-molar range,[66] therefore a fast, accurate ATP sensing may be useful in both research and food safety. Here, OECTs are applied to test ATP for the first time and show some potential applications in the future.

5.2 Fabrication, preparation and measurement of OECT ATP sensors

The preparation was similar to sections 3.2.1. Therefore, in this section only the gate modifications and measurements are introduced.

5.2.1 Preparation of OECT ATP sensors

For the gate modification, the Nafion(5%), HEX (stock solution 0.5kU/mL) and GOx (stock solution 0.5kU/mL) in 0.1X PBS were mixed with the volume ratio 2:1:1 to have different mixtures. 5 μ L or 10 μ L mixtures were drop-coated on the 3mm × 3mm clean Pt gates and then dried at 35°C for 10-15 mins.

ATP solution was prepared by dissolving the adenosine 5' -triphosphate (ATP) disodium salt hydrate powder into the de-ionized water solution to obtain 10mM ATP solution and then diluted with de-ionized water to obtain the other solutions with different concentration.



1M glucose solution was prepared by dissolving the glucose powder into PBS solution and heated at 90°C overnight to speed up the transformation of α - glucose to β - glucose due to the enzyme GOx can only decompose β - glucose.

In this experiment 0.1x PBS solution with 5mM $MgCl_2$ was employed as the base solution because Mg^{2+} was needed to participate in the enzymatic function of HEX.[67]

5.2.2 Measurement of OECT ATP sensors

All measurements were performed by two labview controlled Keithley 2400 sourcemeters with a USB to transfer and monitor the data. The channel and gate electrodes were rinsed with PBS solution to remove the undesired residue on the channel and gate and immerse in 10ml 0.1x PBS solution with 5mM MgCl₂ stirred in a beaker. The transfer characteristic curve (I_{DS} vs V_G) with V_{DS}=0.1V and V_G varied from 0V to 1.2V was measured. Then the channel current (I_{ds}) was measured as a function of time (t) with fixed voltages $V_{DS} = 0.1V$ and $V_G = 0.6V$. 10µM glucose solution was added to the beaker to increase the glucose concentration in the beaker and wait for the stable current. After that the ATP solutions was added in the beaker with increasing concentration to obtain the current responses.

5.3 Working principle of OECT-based ATP sensors

The channel current I_{DS} of the device at different source-drain voltage V_{DS} and gate voltage V_G is given by the following equation: (see also eq(1.1) and (3.1))



$$I_{DS} = \frac{q\mu p_0 t W}{L V_p} (V_p - V_G^{eff} + \frac{V_{DS}}{2}) V_{DS}, \quad (\text{when } |V_{DS}| << |V_p - V_G^{eff}|)$$

$$V_p = q p_0 t / c_i,$$

$$V_G^{eff} = V_G + V_{offset},$$
(5.1) [=

(1.1)]

where q and μ are electronic charge and hole mobility, respectively; p_0 is the initial hole density in the channel; V_p and $V_G e^{ff}$ are the pinch-off voltage and the effective gate voltage on the transistor, respectively; V_{offset} an offset voltage at gate/electrolyte interfaces; t the thickness of the active layer; W and L are the channel width and length of the OECT, respectively; and c_i is the effective gate capacitance.



Fig 5.1 The ATP sensor and the gate modification



Fig 5.2 Potential distribution of the OECT for ATP sensing.

The working mechanism and potential distribution of the OECT-based ATP sensors is shown in Fig. 5.1 and Fig. 5.2. The enzyme GOx and HEX are immobilized on the gate electrode. GOx can decompose glucose into gluconic acid and H_2O_2 by equation 5.2 (a) and H_2O_2 undergoes direct electro-oxidation to release two electrons per H_2O_2 molecule by equation 5.2 (b) and produces Faradaic current between the gate electrode and the electrolyte interface. After the ATP is added into the beaker, glucose and ATP would have chemical reaction and give out ADP and glucose - 6 - p by equation 5.2 (c).



Because of the concentration of glucose was reduced by the increased ATP concentration, H_2O_2 concentration is reduced and hence the channel current is modulated. The whole biochemical reactions of ATP sensing in PBS solution is given by the formulas: [67]

$$Glucose + O_2 \xrightarrow{GOx} H_2O_2 + gluconic \ acid$$
$$5.2(a)$$

$$H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{electro-oxidation} 2H^+ + O_2 + 2e^-$$

$$ATP + Glucose \xrightarrow{HEX} ADP + glucose - 6 - P$$
$$5.2(c)$$

The Faradaic current produced by the direct electro-oxidation of H_2O_2 at the gate electrode could change potential difference between the electrolyte and the gate electrode and thus change the effective gate voltage V_G^{eff} of the transistor given by:

$$V_G^{eff} = V_G + \alpha \log[H_2 O_2] + constant$$

$$\alpha = 2.3(1+\gamma)kT/2e$$

(5.3)



where γ is the ratio between the electrical double layer capacitances of the electrolyte/channel interface (*C_C*) and the electrolyte/gate interface (*C_G*), $\gamma = C_C/C_G$; *k* the Boltzmann constant; *T* the room temperature and [*H*₂*O*₂] is the concentration of hydrogen peroxide.

Similar to the cholesterol sensing shown in chapter 4, from equation 5.2(a), the H₂O₂ concentration in the beaker should be proportional to the glucose concentration in the beaker. So the effective gate voltage is given by: [32][33]

$$V_{G,glu}^{eff} = \alpha_{glu} \log[glu] + A$$
(5.4)

On the other hand, the addition of ATP can reduce the glucose level by the enzyme HEX and ATP, as shown in equation 5.2(c). Hence, ATP will decrease the effective gate voltage with a value by reducing the glucose concentration in beaker and given by:

$$V_{G,ATP}^{eff} = \alpha_{ATP} \log[ATP] + B$$
(5.5)

where A, B are constants.



Therefore, the total effective gate voltage is given by:

$$V_g^{eff} = V_{G,glu}^{eff} - V_{G,ATP}^{eff}$$
(5.6)

As the initial glucose concentration is unchanged and only ATP concentration is increased, we can regard $V_{G,glu}^{eff}$ as a constant and after the ATP addition, the effective gate voltage is given by:

$$\Delta V_g^{eff} = (V_{G,glu}^{eff} - V_{G,ATP}^{eff})_{new} - (V_{G,glu}^{eff} - V_{G,ATP}^{eff})_{initial} = (V_{G,ATP}^{eff})_{initial} - (V_{G,ATP}^{eff})_{new}$$

$$(5.7)$$

Here "initial" is used to imply the state that the beaker contains glucose and give stable current in OECT without ATP and "new" implies the state that the beaker contains glucose and give stable current in OECT after the a quantity of ATP is added.

Because initially there was no ATP in the beaker therefore $(V_{G,ATP}^{eff})_{initial} = 0$ and

$$\Delta V_g^{eff} = -\Delta (V_{G,ATP}^{eff}) = -\alpha_{ATP} \log[ATP]$$

The obtained equation indicates the relationship of effective gate voltage change after ATP is added into the beaker. Therefore, the increase of ATP concentration in the beaker will decrease the effective gate voltage of the OECTs and thus increase the channel current.



 $|\Delta V_g^{eff}| = |\alpha_{ATP} \log[ATP]|$ (5.5)

5.4 Results and discussion

The OECTs were modified with different amount of Nafion + GOx + HEX mixtures (5 and 10µL). After the OECT was stabilized, 10µL 1M glucose solution was added into the PBS solution to have 1mM glucose concentration in the 10mL beaker. Fig. 5.3 shows the 5µL Nafion + GOx + HEX gate modification for ATP sensing. Fig. 5.3 (a) shows the device current response when glucose was added. The response of the device to glucose shows that the room temperature immobilization method for GOx was good enough for glucose sensing. Then ATP was added in the beaker for several steps with increasing concentrations after the change of current was stabilized at each step. It is notable that the response to ATP was nearly stable after ~ 2 minutes. The device shows a detection limit of 10 µM, which can cover the normal ATP range in cells. The linear slope = 93.531 mV/decade is obtained in the plot of ΔV_G^{eff} against log[ATP].

Nafion + HEX + GOx (a) 1.00 ° 30μΜ 0.98 10μM ATP 300µM 100µM Ó 500 1000 1500 Time (s) (b) Nafion + HEX + GOx 120-200 I_{DS} (μΑ) 80- $|\Delta V_g^{eff}|$ (mV) 100 0.0 0.6 1.2 Vg(V) 40 93.5312 mV/decade 0 -5.0 -4.5 -3.5 -4.0 Log [ATP]

Fig. 5.3 (a) The normalized current response of an OECT with 5µL Nafion/HEX/GOx/Pt gate to the increasing ATP concentration in PBS solution measured at V_{DS} =0.1V and V_G =0.6V. (b) The offset voltage change as a function of the logarithmic value of ATP concentration ([ATP])



Similarly, the modification on Pt gate electrode with 10 μ L mixture gives the same detection limit (10 μ M) and enhanced current response to ATP, as shown in Fig 5.4. The result indicates that the quantities of two enzymes GOx and HEX can influence the current response and the slope (176.35mV/decade) for the effective gate voltage change ΔV_G^{eff} against log[ATP] although the detection limit has not been improved.





Fig. 5.4 (a) The normalized current response of an OECT with 10μ L Nafion/HEX/GOx/Pt gate to the increasing ATP concentration in PBS solution measured at $V_{DS}=0.1$ V and $V_G=0.6$ V. (b) The offset voltage change as a function of the logarithmic value of ATP concentration ([ATP])

These results indicate that ATP sensing can be realized by OECTs with dual enzyme immobilization. Besides, we notice some interesting issues as follows:

(1) The stabilized current in OECT enzymatic ATP sensing was due to the signal molecules (H₂O₂) production equal to the signal molecules decomposition rather than the bioanalytes (glucose) being fully converted to signal molecules. Otherwise the ATP could not affect the result if there was no glucose in the beaker. If all glucose fully converted to H₂O₂ to have stable current, the added ATP cannot control the H₂O₂ concentration anymore.



- (2) The ATP sensing time was much faster than the glucose in both devices, indicating that the reaction of ATP is much faster than glucose.
- (3) The dual enzymes immobilization at room temperature was successfully realized by simply placing the gate electrode on a 35°C hot plate. Both enzymes GOx and HEX can work properly and give the performance comparable to previous OECT-based enzymatic sensors. Room temperature processing made the sensors to be more easily fabricated.

5.5 Future work of ATP sensors

Even though ATP was successfully detected by OECTs with dual enzymes immobilization on gate electrode, there are still work on optimizing the OECT ATP sensors. To have a very high selectivity to ATP, the disturbance signal from other biomolecules should be avoided. By considering that the main sensing molecule was H_2O_2 , a mechanical H_2O_2 filter would be effective in improving the selectivity. Prussian Blue (PB) and its analogs shows high selectivity on H_2O_2 sensing [68][69][70], which can be easily deposited on electrodes by electrodeposition. High crystallinity of Prussian Blue can allow H_2O_2 to penetrate its film and prevent other relatively large biomolecules such as ascorbic acid (AA), uric acid (UA), dopamine and epinephrine to penetrate.



Finally, some nano-materials such as GO[61] showed enzyme immobilization abilities and might improve the sensitivity in ATP sensing when they are employed in the devices.

5.6 Summary

In summary, the OECT ATP sensing based on reduced signal of H_2O_2 was successfully realized. Biocompatible polymer Nafion was successfully used to immobilize the enzymes HEX and GOx on the devices at room temperature within 15 minutes and showed good stability. OECTs with Pt gate electrodes modified with Nafion, GOx and HEX showed high sensitivity and the detection limit of 10 μ M to ATP. Future plan of ATP sensor includes the optimization of both sensitivity and selectivity of the devices.



Chapter 6 Conclusion and Future Work

6.1 Conclusion

To conclude, OECTs with Pt gate electrodes modified with biocompatible polymer (Nafion) and carbon-based nano-materials (SWNT, graphene flakes or GO) show high sensitivity to epinephrine. Nafion can enhance the sensitivity of the device by attracting epinephrine molecules to the gate electrode. SWNTs and graphene flakes modified on the gate electrode can further improve the sensitivity and decrease the detection limit of the device due to the enhanced electrocatalytic activity of the gate electrode. The device modified with Nafion and SWNTs shows the lowest detection limit of 0.1nM, which is sensitive enough for practical applications. Considering that the OECT-based epinephrine sensors can be prepared by low-cost and convenient solution process, this type of devices are promising transducers for disposable applications in the future.

Furthermore, the enzymatic sensing of cholesterol was successfully realized by immobilizing the enzyme ChOx, Nafion as well as the conductive nano-materials graphene flakes or graphene oxide (GO) on the gate electrode. ChOx can decompose cholesterol and produce H_2O_2 as the signal molecules. The nano-materials can enhance the current response but not the detection limit. The detection limits of the sensors were ~10nM, which can cover the normal range in human plasma and are suitable for food



safety test. The gate modified with GO showed the best performance on cholesterol sensing probably due to the better enzyme immobilization by GO.

Finally, the enzymatic sensing of ATP was realized by decreasing the signal generated by glucose. Unlike the ordinary enzymatic sensing such as glucose sensing or cholesterol sensing that the sensing mechanisms were based on increasing effective gate voltage by increasing the concentration of mentioned bioanalytes, ATP's sensing mechanism was based on decreasing the effective gate voltage by increasing ATP concentration because ATP can decrease the concentration of glucose and thus the concentration of the signal molecule H_2O_2 . The device can be prepared at room temperature, making it suitable for low-cost manufacturing. The devices show the detection limit of 10μ M, which can cover the normal ATP concentrations in cells and other systems.

6.2 Future Outlook

The OECTs sensors in this thesis were operated mainly based on the oxidation of biomolecules to achieve sensing. Even though the detection limit was usually very low and the sensitivity was extremely high, it is still not ready to commercialize OECTs as a product for biosensing due to some reasons, such as the poor uniformity and stability of the OECTs.

Recently, 2D-materials such as graphene,[61] MoS_2 ,[71] WS_2 [72] were used as FET-based sensors and could detect many biomolecules successfully. Graphene was not



only used as biosensors in FET platform, but also showed itself as a good candidate in solution gate transistors. In addition, the 2D materials can be easily used to crosslink the biomolecules such as DNA, RNA, antibody without the complicated surface treatment used on metal electrodes and are thus suitable to immobilize the aforementioned bio-molecules in sensing applications. Therefore, more 2-D materials can be employed in the o OECT-based biosensors to further improve the device performance.

Moreover, other organic semiconductors other than PEDOT:PSS can be used in OECTs and better performance is expected if the materials can show high carrier mobility and better stability in aqueous solutions.



Reference

- [1] J. Rivnay, R. M. Owens, and G. G. Malliaras, "The rise of organic bioelectronics," *Chem. Mater.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 679–685, 2014.
- [2] N. Koch, "Organic electronic devices and their functional interfaces," *ChemPhysChem*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. 1438–1455, 2007.
- [3] P. Lin and F. Yan, "Organic thin-film transistors for chemical and biological sensing," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 34–51, 2012.
- [4] L. Torsi, M. Magliulo, K. Manoli, and G. Palazzo, "Organic field-effect transistor sensors: a tutorial review," *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, vol. 42, no. 22, p. 8612, 2013.
- [5] H. S. White, G. P. Kittlesen, and M. S. Wrighton, "Chemical derivatization of an array of three gold microelectrodes with polypyrrole: Fabrication of a molecule-based transistor," *J. Am. Chem. SOC*, vol. 106, no. 18, pp. 5375–5377, 1984.
- [6] C. Liao, M. Zhang, M. Y. Yao, T. Hua, L. Li, and F. Yan, "Flexible organic electronics in biology: Materials and devices," pp. 1–35, 2014.
- [7] B. D. A. Bernards and G. G. Malliaras, "Steady-state and transient behavior of organic electrochemical transistors," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 17, pp. 3538–3544, 2007.
- [8] D. A. Bernards, D. J. Macaya, M. Nikolou, J. A. DeFranco, S. Takamatsu, and G. G. Malliaras, "Enzymatic sensing with organic electrochemical transistors," *J. Mater. Chem.*, vol. 18, no. 1, p. 116, 2008.
- [9] P. Lin, F. Yan, and H. L. W. Chan, "Ion-sensitive properties of organic electrochemical transistors," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 1637– 1641, 2010.
- [10] E. W. Paul, A. J. Ricco, and M. S. Wrighton, "Resistance of polyanillne films as a function of electrochemical potential and the fabrication of polyanlline-based microelectronic devices," *J. Phys. Chem.*, vol. 89, no. 8, pp. 1441–1447, 1985.
- [11] J. W. Thackeray, H. S. White, and M. S. Wrighton,
 "Poly(3-methylthiophene)-coated electrodes: Optical and electrical properties as a function of redox potential and amplification of electrical and chemical signals



using poly(3-methylthlophene)-based microelectrochemical transistors," J. Phys. Chem, vol. 89, pp. 5133–5140, 1985.

- [12] J. W. Thackeray, "Chemically responsive microelectrochemical devices based on platinized poly(3-methylthiophene): variation in conductivity with variation in hydrogen, oxygen, or pH in aqueous solution," J. Phys. Chem, vol. 90, pp. 6674– 6679, 1986.
- [13] M. Nishizawa, T. Matsue, and I. Uchida, "Penicillin sensor based on a microarray electrode coated with pH-responsive polypyrrole," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 64, no. 21, pp. 2642–2644, 1992.
- [14] R. B. Dabke, G. D. Singh, A. Dhanabalan, R. Lal, and A. Q. Contractor, "An ion-activated molecular electronic device," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 69, no. 4, pp. 724– 727, 1997.
- [15] N. P. Gaponik, D. G. Shchukin, A. I. Kulak, and D. V Sviridov, "A polyaniline-based microelectrochemical transistor with an electrocatalytic gate," *Mendeleev Commun.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 70–71, 1997.
- [16] S. Communication, "Copper (II) ion-selective microelectrochemical transistor," J Solid State Electrochem, vol. 4, pp. 234–236, 2000.
- [17] M. Berggren, R. Forchheimer, J. Bobacka, P. Svensson, and D. Nilsson, "Organic semiconductors in sensor applications, Chapter 9: PEDOT : PSS-based electrochemical transistors for ion-to-electron transduction," Org. Semicond. Sens. Appl., 2008.
- [18] J. Bobacka, A. Ivaska, and Z. Mousavi, "Ion-selective organic electrochemical junction transistors based on poly (3, 4-ethylenedioxythiophene) doped with poly (styrene sulfonate)," *Electroanalysis*, vol. 21, no. 3–5, pp. 472–479, 2009.
- [19] D. A. Bernards, G. G. Malliaras, G. E. S. Toombes, S. M. Gruner, D. A. Bernards, and G. G. Malliaras, "Gating of an organic transistor through a bilayer lipid membrane with ion channels Gating of an organic transistor through a bilayer lipid membrane," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 13–16, 2006.
- [20] M. Kanungo, A. Kumar, and A. Q. Contractor, "Conductimetric immunosensor based on poly (3, 4-ethylenedioxythiophene)," *CHEM. COMMUN.*, pp. 680–681, 2002.
- [21] D.-J. Kim, N. Lee, J.-S. Park, I. Park, J. Kim, and H. J. Cho, "Organic electrochemical transistor based immunosensor for prostate specific antigen (PSA)



detection using gold nanoparticles for signal amplification.," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 2477–2482, 2010.

- [22] K. Krishnamoorthy, R. S. Gokhale, A. Q. Contractor, and A. Kumar, "Novel label-free DNA sensors based on poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene).," *Chem. Commun. (Camb).*, no. 7, pp. 820–821, 2004.
- [23] P. Lin, X. Luo, I. Hsing, and F. Yan, "Organic electrochemical transistors integrated in flexible microfluidic systems and used for label-free DNA sensing," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 23, pp. 4035–4040, 2011.
- [24] P. Lin, F. Yan, J. Yu, H. L. W. Chan, and M. Yang, "The application of organic electrochemical transistors in cell-based biosensors," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 22, pp. 3655–3660, 2010.
- [25] C. Liao, M. Zhang, L. Niu, Z. Zheng, and F. Yan, "Highly selective and sensitive glucose sensors based on organic electrochemical transistors with graphene-modified gate electrodes," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, vol. 1, no. 31, p. 3820, 2013.
- [26] H. Tang, P. Lin, H. L. W. Chan, and F. Yan, "Highly sensitive dopamine biosensors based on organic electrochemical transistors," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 4559–4563, 2011.
- [27] Z. Z. and F. Y. Caizhi Liao, Meng Zhang, Liyong Niu, "Organic electrochemical transistors with graphene-modified gate electrodes for highly sensitive and selective dopamine sensors," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, no. 2, pp. 191–200, 2014.
- [28] L. Kergoat, B. Piro, D. T. Simon, M. C. Pham, V. Noël, and M. Berggren,
 "Detection of glutamate and acetylcholine with organic electrochemical transistors based on conducting polymer/platinum nanoparticle composites," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 26, pp. 5658–5664, 2014.
- [29] N. Coppedè, G. Tarabella, M. Villani, D. Calestani, S. Iannotta, and A. Zappettini, "Human stress monitoring through an organic cotton-fiber biosensor," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, vol. 2, no. 34, p. 5620, 2014.
- [30] E. Section, "Biosensor based on conducting polymers," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 64, no. 21, pp. 2645–2646, 1992.
- [31] D. J. Macaya, M. Nikolou, S. Takamatsu, J. T. Mabeck, M. Owens, and G. G. Malliaras, "Simple glucose sensors with micromolar sensitivity based on organic



electrochemical transistors," Sensors Actuators B Chem., vol. 123, no. 1, pp. 374–378, 2007.

- [32] H. Tang, F. Yan, P. Lin, J. Xu, and H. L. W. Chan, "Highly sensitive glucose biosensors based on organic electrochemical transistors using platinum gate electrodes modifi ed with enzyme and nanomaterials," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 21, pp. 2264–2272, 2011.
- [33] C. Liao, M. Zhang, L. Niu, Z. Zheng, and F. Yan, "Highly selective and sensitive glucose sensors based on organic electrochemical transistors with graphenemodified gate electrodes," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, vol. 1, p. 3820, 2013.
- [34] C. Liao, C. Mak, M. Zhang, H. L. W. Chan, and F. Yan, "Flexible organic electrochemical transistors for highly selective enzyme biosensors and used for saliva testing," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 27, pp. 676–681, 2015.
- [35] K. H. Berecek and M. J. Brody, "Evidence for a neurotransmitter role for epinephrine derived from the adrenal medulla.," *Am. J. Physiol.*, vol. 242, no. 4, pp. H593–H601, 1982.
- [36] K. E. Barrett and S. M. Barman, Review of medical physiology, Mc Graw Hill, 2010, 23rd edn. 2010.
- [37] H. Beitollahi and I. Sheikhshoaie, "Electrocatalytic oxidation and determination of epinephrine in the presence of uric acid and folic acid at multiwalled carbon nanotubes/molybdenum(vi) complex modified carbon paste electrode," *Anal. Methods*, vol. 3, no. 8, p. 1810, 2011.
- [38] N. a Paradis and E. M. Koscove, "Epinephrine in cardiac arrest: a critical review.," *Ann. Emerg. Med.*, vol. 19, no. 11, pp. 1288–1301, 1990.
- [39] F. D. P. Ferreira, L. I. B. Silva, a. C. Freitas, T. a P. Rocha-Santos, and a. C. Duarte, "High performance liquid chromatography coupled to an optical fiber detector coated with laccase for screening catecholamines in plasma and urine," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1216, no. 42, pp. 7049–7054, 2009.
- [40] L. I. B. Silva, F. D. P. Ferreira, A. C. Freitas, T. a P. Rocha-Santos, and a. C. Duarte, "Optical fiber biosensor coupled to chromatographic separation for screening of dopamine, norepinephrine and epinephrine in human urine and plasma," *Talanta*, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 853–857, 2009.
- [41] E. Kojima, M. Kai, and Y. Ohkura, "Determination of tryptophan in human serum by high-performance liquid chromatography with pre-column fluorescence



derivatization using phenylglyoxal.," J. Chromatogr., vol. 612, no. 2, pp. 187–190, 1993.

- [42] R. N. Goyal, A. R. S. Rana, and H. Chasta, "Electrochemical and peroxidase-catalyzed oxidation of epinephrine," *Electrochim. Acta*, vol. 59, pp. 492–498, 2012.
- [43] A. B. Kharitonov, A. N. Shipway, and I. Willner, "An Au nanoparticle / bisbipyridinium field-effect transistor for the sensing of adrenaline," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 71, no. 23, pp. 5441–5443, 1999.
- [44] E. Akyilmaz, M. Turemis, and I. Yasa, "Voltammetric determination of epinephrine by White rot fungi (Phanerochaete chrysosporium ME446) cells based microbial biosensor," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 2590–2594, 2011.
- [45] S. Shahrokhian and R. S. Saberi, "Electrochemical preparation of over-oxidized polypyrrole/multi-walled carbon nanotube composite on glassy carbon electrode and its application in epinephrine determination," *Electrochim. Acta*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 132–138, 2011.
- [46] A. Salimi, C. E. Banks, and R. G. Compton, "Abrasive immobilization of carbon nanotubes on a basal plane pyrolytic graphite electrode: application to the detection of epinephrine.," *Analyst*, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. 225–228, 2004.
- [47] T. H. Tsai, S. Thiagarajan, S. M. Chen, and C. Y. Cheng, "Ionic liquid assisted synthesis of nano Pd-Au particles and application for the detection of epinephrine, dopamine and uric acid," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 520, no. 7, pp. 3054–3059, 2012.
- [48] F. Valentini, G. Palleschi, E. L. Morales, S. Orlanducci, E. Tamburri, and M. L. Terranova, "Functionalized single-walled carbon nanotubes modified microsensors for the selective response of epinephrine in presence of ascorbic acid," *Electroanalysis*, vol. 19, no. 7–8, pp. 859–869, 2007.
- [49] C. Dodt, U. Breckling, I. Derad, H. L. Fehm, and J. Born, "Plasma epinephrine and norepinephrine concentrations of healthy humans associated with nighttime sleep and morning arousal.," *Hypertension*, vol. 30, no. 1 Pt 1, pp. 71–76, 1997.
- [50] S. Corona-Avendaño, G. Alarcón-Angeles, a. Rojas-Hernández, M. a. Romero-Romo, and M. T. Ramírez-Silva, "Study on the stability of adrenaline and on the determination of its acidity constants," *Spectrochim. Acta - Part A Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc.*, vol. 61, no. 1–2, pp. 305–311, 2005.



- [51] S. M. Chen and K. T. Peng, "The electrochemical properties of dopamine, epinephrine, norepinephrine, and their electrocatalytic reactions on cobalt(II) hexacyanoferrate films," *J. Electroanal. Chem.*, vol. 547, no. 2, pp. 179–189, 2003.
- [52] K. a. Mauritz and R. B. Moore, "State of understanding of Nafion," *Chem. Rev.*, vol. 104, no. 10, pp. 4535–4585, 2004.
- [53] P. Handler, E.L. Smith, R.L. Hill, I.R. Lehman, Principles of biochemistry, 6th edn., McGraw-Hill Book, New York, 1978.
- [54] P. W. Wilson, R. B. D'Agostino, D. Levy, a M. Belanger, H. Silbershatz, and W. B. Kannel, "Prediction of coronary heart disease using risk factor categories.," *Circulation*, vol. 97, no. 18, pp. 1837–1847, 1998.
- [55] S. K. Arya, M. Datta, and B. D. Malhotra, "Recent advances in cholesterol biosensor," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 1083–1100, 2008.
- [56] M. Zhang, C. Liao, C. H. Mak, P. You, C. L. Mak, and F. Yan, "Highly sensitive glucose sensors based on enzyme-modified whole-graphene solution-gated transistors," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 5, pp. 8311–8316, 2015.
- [57] S. Nantaphol, O. Chailapakul, and W. Siangproh, "Sensitive and selective electrochemical sensor using silver nanoparticles modified glassy carbon electrode for determination of cholesterol in bovine serum," *Sensors Actuators B Chem.*, vol. 207, pp. 193–198, 2015.
- [58] A. Aghaei, M. R. Milani Hosseini, and M. Najafi, "A novel capacitive biosensor for cholesterol assay that uses an electropolymerized molecularly imprinted polymer," *Electrochim. Acta*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 1503–1508, 2010.
- [59] M. A. Barik and J. C. Dutta, "Fabrication and characterization of junctionless carbon nanotube field effect transistor for cholesterol detection," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 105, no. 5, p. 053509, 2014.
- [60] M. A. Barik, M. K. Sarma, C. R. Sarkar, and J. C. Dutta, "Highly sensitive potassium-doped polypyrrole/carbon nanotube-based enzyme field effect transistor (enfet) for cholesterol detection," *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, vol. 174, no. 3, pp. 1104–1114, 2014.
- [61] T. Kuila, S. Bose, P. Khanra, A. K. Mishra, N. H. Kim, and J. H. Lee, "Recent advances in graphene-based biosensors," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 4637–4648, 2011.



- [62] K. C. Timberlanke, *General, organic, and biological chemistry structures of life*, 5th ed. Boston: Pearson, 2015.
- [63] G. Burnstock, "Historical review: ATP as a neurotransmitter," *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, vol. 27, no. 3 SPEC. ISS., pp. 166–176, 2006.
- [64] S. Sanyal, "Estimating ATP resynthesis during a marathon run: a method to introduce metabolism," *Adv. Physiol. Educ.*, pp. 70–71, 2001.
- [65] J. M. Hawronskyj and J. Holah, "ATP: A universal hygiene monitor," *Trends Food Sci. Technol.*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 79–84, 1997.
- [66] I. Beis and E. a Newsholme, "The contents of adenine nucleotides, phosphagens and some glycolytic intermediates in resting muscles from vertebrates and invertebrates.," *Biochem. J.*, vol. 152, no. 1, pp. 23–32, 1975.
- [67] A. Kueng, C. Kranz, and B. Mizaikoff, "Amperometric ATP biosensor based on polymer entrapped enzymes," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 19, no. 10, pp. 1301– 1307, 2004.
- [68] F. Ricci and G. Palleschi, "Sensor and biosensor preparation, optimisation and applications of prussian blue modified electrodes," *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 389–407, 2005.
- [69] A. a. Karyakin, "Prussian blue and its analogues: Electrochemistry and analytical applications," *Electroanalysis*, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 813–819, 2001.
- [70] W. Chen, S. Cai, Q.-Q. Ren, W. Wen, and Y.-D. Zhao, "Recent advances in electrochemical sensing for hydrogen peroxide: A review," *Analyst*, vol. 137, no. 1, p. 49, 2012.
- [71] D. Sarkar, W. Liu, X. Xie, A. C. Anselmo, S. Mitragotri, and K. Banerjee, "MoS₂ field-effect transistor for next-generation label-free biosensors.," *ACS Nano*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 3992–4003, 2014.
- [72] Y. Yuan, R. Li, and Z. Liu, "Establishing water-soluble layered WS₂ nanosheet as a platform for biosensing," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 86, no. 7, pp. 3610–3615, 2014.